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Incommunities Group Limited
STRATEGIC REPORT
GROUP STRUCTURE
FORMATION
Incommunities Group Limited (the ‘Group Company’, or the ‘Parent Company’) was formed in 2003
following the transfer of the housing stock of Bradford Metropolitan District Council (the ‘Council’), and is
a non-housing property owning parent. Incommunities Limited (‘Incommunities’), a subsidiary of the
Group Company, is a registered Housing Association and holds the housing stock transferred from the
Council. On 1 April 2015, the Group Company acquired Sadeh Lok Limited (‘Sadeh Lok’) and its
subsidiaries. Sadeh Lok is a registered Housing Association operating in West and South Yorkshire,
which it manages from its operational base in Huddersfield. In November 2018, the Group Company
formed Incommunities Treasury Plc (the ‘Company) to raise funds from the debt capital markets as part
of its refinancing strategy.
CORPORATE STRUCTURE
Incommunities Group Limited and its subsidiaries (the ‘Group’) is made up of the Group Company, a
number of trading subsidiaries, and a number of dormant subsidiaries. The trading entities are:







Incommunities Group Limited
Incommunities Limited
Sadeh Lok Limited
BCHT Development Company Limited
Incommunities Treasury Plc
Eleanor Moorhouse Homes Trust

The Group Company also has a 50% interest in the Centre for Partnership LLP (the ‘Partnership’), a
Joint Venture Company.
The Group includes four dormant subsidiaries that are in various stages of being wound-up, these are;
Incommunities Commercial Limited, Lumia Homes Limited, Sadeh Lok Development Company Limited,
and SLG Corporate Limited. During the year, the Association formally wound-up two subsidiaries; Up
and Working Limited, and Access Matrix Limited. A further subsidiary, Incommunities Foundation has
ceased to trade.
The Group Company supports and coordinates the activities of the Group as a whole, and provides
central and strategic services to its subsidiaries including; maintenance and repairs, property
development and regeneration, treasury and financial management, information technology, legal
services, human resources, performance monitoring and governance.
Information on the subsidiary undertakings is set out in Note 15. to the financial statements.
GOVERNANCE
In April 2017, a Governance Review commenced to consider the effectiveness of the governance
arrangements in supporting the revised corporate structure. This process was completed and
implemented in the 2018/19 financial year with the introduction of a number of significant changes to the
governance structure. These are set out in full in the Directors’ Report.
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OPERATING ENVIRONMENT
CORE BUSINESS
The Group’s core business is to provide affordable housing, principally for rent, but also for shared
ownership and market sale, with a geographic focus in the Yorkshire Region.
The Group is also developing some commercial activities, which have a focus on developing new and
refurbished homes for open market sale. This activity will provide additional resources to enable the
Group to pursue its social activities. It is unlikely to exceed 10% of the turnover of the Group as a whole
in the foreseeable future.
The Group provides a number of additional services:






Homelessness and Housing Advice
Anti-Social Behaviour and Mediation Service
Supported Housing services
Financial Inclusion initiatives
Employability services

These services are provided to support the aims of the Group through the sustainability of local
communities, and to help families and individuals sustain their tenancies.
PARTNERSHIPS
The Group Company has an interest in Centre for Partnership LLP, a jointly controlled entity providing
consultancy services focussed on bringing together a team of experts with extensive experience and
knowledge in developing and promoting excellence in key aspects of organisational effectiveness.
The Partnership is the only organisation in the United Kingdom which offers accreditation in Governance
and Partnership standards, both of which have been recognised by the National Housing Federation.
The Partnership also owns and manages the Graduate Employee Mentoring programme, a trainee
scheme for graduates wishing to develop a career in social housing. During the last ten years, almost
300 people have passed through the GEM Programme, many of whom still work in the sector. The
current Twelfth Cohort consists of 52 ‘GEMs’ from across the United Kingdom and Australia. The
organisation is jointly controlled by Incommunities Group Limited and Sutton Smith Limited.
REGULATORY ENVIRONMENT
Incommunities Group Limited is regulated by the Regulator of Social Housing. Changes to the
regulatory framework have placed Value for Money (VFM) and economic considerations to the fore. A
summary of the VFM Self-Assessment is given later in this report, along with a website link to the new
VFM standard.
The Group continues to work closely with Homes England to deliver its new affordable homes
programme, and it remains on target to complete the construction of the Group’s corporate growth
objectives of building 1,000 new homes for affordable rent /shared ownership by 2025.
The Group’s most recent regulatory judgement for Governance is G1 and for Financial Viability is V1 as
published by Homes England in November 2019.
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KEY RELATIONSHIPS AND CONTRACTS
The Group has a number of important business relationships and contractual arrangements:
Funders and Investors
The Group has loan facilities with Barclays Bank, National Westminster Bank, Royal Bank of Scotland
and The Housing Finance Corporation (‘THFC’). The Group also has in issue an own name public issue
bond in which it has a number of investors. The Group values and works closely with its funders, holding
regular relationship meetings, and places great emphasis on maintaining these long-term relationships.
The Group also maintains a positive dialogue with its investors, providing information through an investor
portal and regular trading statements. A series of meetings between the Group and its primary investors
is anticipated during the coming year.
Bradford Metropolitan District Council
Incommunities works closely with Bradford Metropolitan District Council to support the delivery of the
Council’s plans, as appropriate.
During the 2016/17 financial year, after the submission of a successful tender bid, Incommunities was
awarded a 5-year contract to take over the management of 293 residential properties owned by the
Council. Incommunities is now managing 335 properties on behalf of the Council.
Whilst this contract helps cement a positive relationship between the Group and the Council, it is not
significant in the overall income and expenditure of the Group.
Kirklees Metropolitan District Council
Sadeh Lok has a long standing relationship with Kirklees Metropolitan District Council (‘Kirklees’), and
the Group has begun to develop this relationship with Kirklees as a key partner for property development
opportunities in the Huddersfield area.
SECTION 172 STATEMENT
Section 172 of the Companies Act 2006 requires Directors to take into consideration the interests of
stakeholders and other matters in their decision making. The Directors continue to have regard to the
interests of the Group’s employees and other stakeholders, the impact of the Group’s activities on
tenants, residents and the community, the environment, and its reputation in the housing sector, the
region and the wider business environment, when making decisions. In this context, acting in good faith
and with the best interests of the Group’s tenants, residents, employees and wider stakeholders in mind,
the Directors set strategic goals that are most likely to promote the success of the Group over the
medium to long term. This is explained in the annual report and the engagement with stakeholders is
summarised in the table below.
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Table 1: Engagement with Stakeholders
Stakeholder

Why we engage

How engagement occurs

Tenants and
residents

Tenants and residents make
Incommunities’ housing assets
their homes, in exchange for
the rental income we receive.
We have a legal duty to ensure
they are safe places to live, and
a business imperative to invest
in our housing stock, sustain
our communities and ensure
our properties are fit for
purpose, desirable and present
value for money to everyone
living there.

Employees

Incommunities recognises that
the customer experience is
directly related to the skills,
commitment, values and
experience of its workforce.
Incommunities has entered into
a Joint Trade Union protocol
and values collective
negotiation, consultation and
agreement with the Trades
Unions as an important element
of the engagement with the
workforce.

Customer involvement is governed through
our Scrutiny Policy and the use of our
Customer Voice Strategy. We listen to and
apply their voices to ensure we have their
involvement in service development. In
addition to Customer Voice, we have a
Community Trust Panel that provides a
tenant-led scrutiny to oversee compliance
against our consumer standards, through
customer inspectors. Our Customer and
Community Equality Steering Group
influences policy and strategy from an
equality and diversity perspective.
Outcomes and learning from service
complaints directly influence improvements
to service delivery.
Leaders within the business are expected
and encouraged to carry out regular one to
ones, team meetings and away days.
Incommunities uses an annual appraisal
system and provides guidance and
leadership in carrying them out. Colleagues
are supported in their training and
development and are encouraged to attend
professional and service specific individual
learning development events.
Beyond face to face and video
conferencing, staff communication is
achieved through a weekly staff newsletter,
Workspace social media platform and
regular briefings.
A confidential staff survey has been carried
out, and the outcomes shared with the
workforce alongside action plans to address
any issues of concern.
The Human Resources and Governance
Committee takes an active interest in the
number of appraisals carried out.
The Group is committed to inclusivity and
equal opportunities. There has been a
strong focus on gender diversity, monitoring
gender pay and looking at initiatives to
promote a better gender balance.
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Regulator of Social
Housing

Funders and
Investors

Suppliers

Community and
charities

Environment

The Group is regulated by the
Regulator of Social Housing. In
the spirit of Co-Regulation the
Group has a track record of
reporting any issues of interest
to the Regulator and meeting all
of the regulatory deadlines, and
is currently rated V1:G1.
The Group believes it is
essential to develop and
maintain transparent
arrangements with its funders
and investors. The funders and
investors provide the means for
Incommunities to continue to
invest in its social housing stock
– to the benefit of its residents.
The main suppliers to the
business are construction tools
and materials suppliers,
construction sub-contractors,
surveyors, building industry
specialists, ICT related systems
suppliers and financial
institutions and advisors.
The Group Company is a
commercial parent of charitable
social housing registered
provider subsidiaries. All
surpluses made by the Group
are used to fund the investment
in existing social housing assets
– or the development or
acquisition of new homes. The
Group also supports local
foodbanks, homelessness
charities and related causes.

The business has a
responsibility to ensure that it
proactively looks at ways in
which it can minimise its carbon
footprint, whilst ensuring that it
delivers the services required
by our customers. The Group
has made significant
investments in its housing
properties to reduce energy
costs and the impact on the
environment.

In addition to the formal processes, the
Executives and Senior Leadership attend
events, which include participants from the
Regulator to hear about the latest
developments in regulation and feedback
on housing issues.

The Group meets its funders on a regular
basis and is planning to meet its primary
investors as part of a formal engagement
process.
The Group provides interim results on the
London Stock Exchange system. In
addition, the information is uploaded onto
the investor portal on the website.
The business ensures that all suppliers are
treated fairly and are paid on time. Many
are local suppliers, providing local
employment and making a wider
contribution to the economic health of the
districts in which we hold our housing stock.

The Board members and Executives
maintain good relationships with the local
authorities in which the Group operates.
This has been particularly important in
supporting the Bradford Metropolitan
District Council’s response to the Covid-19
pandemic.
The Board members, Executives and
leadership team provide a wide range of
support to the sector and related
organisations through both fundraising and
as board members of relevant
organisations.
The Group is committed to reducing waste
generated by its operations. Work has
been undertaken to reduce waste and
increase recycling. Automated repair
scheduling will optimise travel routes and
minimise fuel usage.
Consideration is being made of using
electric vehicles. The business has
invested in digital connectivity and has
significantly increased home working, and
mobile and remote working to reduce
commuter traffic. Video conferencing has
increased substantially in light of the
pandemic.
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The following table shows the key events and decisions made by the Board, the stakeholders they
impacted and the associated actions taken by the Directors to engage with the relevant stakeholders.
Key events and decisions have been determined by assessing items that are either material for the
business or that have a significant impact on one or many categories of stakeholders.
Table 2: Key Events, Decisions, Actions and Impacts
Key events/
decisions
Acquisition of 283
one, two and three
bedroom flats
comprising the
Pollard Park Estate
from a third party
social housing
registered provider

Stakeholders affected

Actions and impact

Tenants and residents



Tenants and resident consultation took
place during the lead up to the acquisition
and was followed up by communications
with the residents, informing them about
Incommunities and how to request repairs
and related services.



The rationale for the acquisition was
considered by the Board in terms of
acquisition cost, financial impact and the
strategic value of increasing the housing
stock in Bradford following the decision to
decommission and demolish eight Tower
Blocks in the Manchester Road area of
the City.



The newly acquired Pollard Park estate is
managed by the same teams affected by
the decommissioning of the Tower
Blocks. The Pollard Park estate has gone
some way toward offsetting the loss of
workload arising from the Tower Block
decision.



Demolition of three
Tower Blocks
containing 189
individual flats at
Crosley Wood,
Bingley

Residents

The size and location of the estate
created a long term re-development
opportunity should the local housing
demand change in the longer term.
Particularly given Incommunities has
housing stock adjacent to the Pollard
Park estate, creating future redevelopment opportunities.
 The decision followed a detailed option
appraisal considered by the Board –
arising from the cost of maintaining the
Tower Blocks against a history of low
levels of demand for this type of
accommodation, taking account of
forecast income yield and future
anticipated investment needs.
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Residents were advised of the process
and had individual visits to assess their
housing needs. Some residents asked if
they could return to Crosley Wood once
the new successor development had been
completed.



Acquisition of 12
social rental
properties at Chain
St, Bradford from a
private sector
developer

Tenants and residents

The demolition of the Tower Blocks
releases a site for re-development. The
cleared site will accommodate a large
number of family sized homes which will
have lower costs and enjoy higher level of
demand compared to the previous Tower
Blocks. The new homes will provide good
quality housing for a range of tenures in
an area with high demand for family
housing.
 Tenants and resident consultation took
place during the lead up to acquisition and
was followed up by communications with
the residents informing them about
Incommunities and how to request repairs
and related services.


The 12 social rented properties are
managed by the housing management
and repairs workforce engaged in
managing other Incommunities social
housing properties in the area.



The Chain St properties were managed by
Incommunities on behalf of the private
sector landlord on a development which
Incommunities also owned properties.



The Board believed it was in the best long
term interest of the Group to continue to
manage the homes – effectively being
part of a larger Incommunities
development and acquire the units when
the opportunity arose to consolidate the
holding.
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Covid-19 pandemic
– activation of
Business
Continuity Plan

Tenants, residents and
employees



In response to the growing pandemic and
the desire of the Group to protect tenants,
customers and colleagues the Group
activated the Business Continuity Plan in
late March 2020.
-

The office was closed to the public.

-

Office based staff were enabled to
work at home, with enhanced digital
networks being provided and
computer equipment issued to those
who needed it.

-

Enhanced safe methods of work were
developed, with additional PPE for
colleagues who had direct contact with
customers.

-

Estate Services were focused on
enhanced cleaning services.

-

Repair Services provided emergency
repairs only.



The Board instigated weekly on-line
meetings to review operations



The Board requested a revised budget
and business plan to take account of the
potential impact on repair costs and rent
collected



The Director of ICT reviewed cyber
security and instigated further investment
in ICT systems resilience.

EXTERNAL INFLUENCES
Like all sectors of the economy, Incommunities has been affected by the Covid-19 pandemic. In
response to the need for social distancing, some limitations to services have had to be implemented.
This has resulted in responsive repairs being limited to emergency repairs only for the period from the
beginning of April to the end of May 2020. The Group has continued to undertake gas servicing and
related property compliance work subject to customers granting access to their homes, and the
availability of parts, tools and materials. As a result some of the service standards and targets have
been compromised.
The Group is anticipating a small reduction in income as its tenants are affected by the general downturn
in the economy and experience some changes to their household incomes. In response, colleagues
have been re-assigned to welfare and re-assurance calls to vulnerable tenants, and additional monitoring
and support calls are being made to support tenants who experience difficulty in meeting their rent
obligations.
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Rent and service charge arrears are expected to increase as some customers have sought to enter into
arrangements to help them sustain their tenancies during this period of uncertainty. Void losses are
expected to rise over the coming year as the number of terminations increase above the capacity of the
business to re-let empty properties. Operating costs are also expected to increase, notwithstanding
some savings being made from the changed operating environment, with much of the office based
business being conducted by employees working from home. Some costs relating to improvement and
investment in existing housing stock will be deferred given the interruption to normal business. Also,
social distancing measures have affected the delivery dates and completion of some new property
development schemes, but these delays should have a negligible impact on future rental income
streams.
The Covid-19 pandemic is expected to result in additional costs being incurred compared with the preCovid-19 operating budget for the 2020/21 financial year. A likely backlog of maintenance and increased
arrears is also expected to affect the 2021/22 financial year.
Notwithstanding the disruption caused by the Covid-19 pandemic and the increased costs that are
anticipated, the Board considers that the Group has the operational and financial capacity to continue to
function in an economic, resource efficient and cost effective manner. At the year-end, the Group has a
cash balance of £13.9m and undrawn, secured funding available of £54m, plus access to a further £50m
retained bond. The revised business plan and the stress testing that has been carried out on the plan
clearly demonstrate that the Group is financially resilient and has sufficient financial capacity to meet all
of its current and future operational requirements.
The Group is following a VFM Strategy designed to yield operational savings and efficiency gains
through the use of technology to support remote and agile working. One of the by-products of the Covid19 pandemic has been the acceleration of digitalisation services and operations. Over 300 employees
are able to carry out most, if not all, of their functions working remotely. This is resulting in reduced
journey times, and the potential for improved productivity, and reduced office and administrative
functions, leading to an overall reduction in office costs. The outcome of these changes is further
efficiency gains in pursuit of VFM.
SECR REPORT
The Streamlined Energy and Carbon Reporting (SECR) requirements place an obligation on quoted and
large unquoted companies to prepare a report outlining their UK energy usage. Incommunities Group
Limited is an unquoted company that meets the definition of ‘large’ under the Companies Act 2006,
exceeding the minimum values as set out in the following table.
Table 3: Emissions Reporting Qualifying Criteria
Qualifying measure

Incommunities Group Limited

Turnover of £36 million or more
A balance sheet of £18 million or more
250 employees or more

Group Turnover £101 million
Balance Sheet £39 million
Number of Employees 964

There is an exemption for organisations with emissions of 40mWh which is the equivalent to nine houses
worth of electricity or four houses worth of gas, according to some experts. The Group does not qualify
for this exemption.
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The following series of tables set out the Group’s position against the reporting requirements for ‘Large
Unquoted Companies and LLPs Reporting Requirements’:
Table 4a: UK Energy Use (as a minimum gas, electricity and transport, including UK offshore
area)
Emissions
Gas Consumption - Offices
Electricity Consumption - Offices
Electricity transmission and distribution - Offices
Fleet Vehicles – Fuel Consumption
Employee Business Travel – Mileage

Consumption
kWh
588,827
1,040,217
1,040,217
N/A
N/A

Energy costs
£’000
£26k
£189k
£564k
£154k

Table 4b: Associated Greenhouse Gas Emissions
Carbon emissions1

20202
teCO2e

Carbon emissions (operational activity from the Group’s offices
and depots)
Carbon emissions (utility use in communal areas across the
Group’s estates)2

2019
teCO2e

1,650

1,615

3,931

2,414

1. Emissions of gases that add to global heating are measured in tonnes of carbon dioxide equivalent - or teCO2e. This
allows for the measurement, on a consistent basis, of the climate impacts of other gases emitted - including nitrogen
dioxide and methane - alongside carbon dioxide, which remains the main gas causing climate change.
2. The causes of the increase in carbon emissions across the Group’s estates remain under review.

Table 4c: Emission Intensity
Carbon emissions
Total carbon emissions(teCO2e)
Group turnover (£m)
Average number of full time equivalent employees
Emission intensity ratio (teCO2e/£m)3
Emission intensity ratio (teCO2e/employee)3

2020
1,650
£101m
964
16.3
1.71

2019
1,615
£98m
1,026
16.5
1.57

3. These measures allow the Group to consider the impact of carbon emissions in relation to the turnover generated
from its operations and its average number of full time equivalent employees, and provide a means of comparing
emissions over time.

The Group is committed to improving the thermal efficiency of its housing stock and reducing energy
usage and carbon emissions from both its housing stock and operations. The points below illustrate
some measures being taken by the Group:


48 first time central heating systems were installed during the year, improving the energy efficiency of
those properties and saving our customers up to £350 per year on their bills. 50% of the costs of
these were provided by the Warm Homes Fund, following fully-funded gas connections by Northern
Gas Network. After the refurbishment works, the properties were improved to an average EPC rating
of C, cutting energy bills by up to 50% and carbon emissions by about 40% every year.



210 loft insulation jobs were completed during the year. Loft insulation can save a customer between
£100 and £225 per year, depending on the house and heating type. This energy efficiency
improvement avoids emitting between 490kg and 920kg of carbon dioxide per year.
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362 cavity wall insulation jobs completed during the year. Insulating wall cavities can save a
customer between £70 and £255 a year, depending on the house and heating type. This avoids
emitting between 290kg and 1,040kg of carbon dioxide per year. 230 of these works were fully grant
funded, with another 11 receiving 50% funding from the Warm Homes Fund.



Increased water efficiency measures reduced water consumption at The Quays, our head office, by
29% from the previous year, saving over a tonne of carbon emissions.



A reduced in electricity consumption of 21% at the Logistics depot, which supports our repairs and
maintenance teams, cutting carbon emissions by over 10 tonnes in comparison with 2018/19.



There has been a significant increase in gas and electricity use at our homes where we supply
communal power and heating. This is considered (in part) to be due to an increase in the work
carried out on preparing blocks of high rise flats for demolition, which should lead to a reduction in
emissions in 2020/21.

In addition to these actions we provide tenants and customers with energy saving advice. We use our
Workspace social media platform to promote sustainability initiatives with our workforce. Our induction
training programme for all new members of staff includes a sustainability module.
The Greenhouse Gas Reporting: Conversion Factors 2020, issued by the Department for Business
Energy and Industrial Strategy, were used to calculate all carbon emissions. Consumption and cost
figures for gas and electricity were taken directly from billing data using our on line energy management
portal. Our fleet vehicle fuel consumption in litres is recorded internally using fuel card data recorded by
our logistics team. Our employee business mileage data is recorded by our Human Resources team,
and an average car carbon conversion factor has been used to calculate carbon emission from business
miles travelled.
The sources of emissions and emission data for the Group are shown in the following table.
Table 5: Sources of Emissions and Emissions Data
Emissions
Scope 1
Gas (offices)
Gas (communal)
Fleet vehicles
Scope 2
Electricity (offices)
Scope 3
Electricity (communal)
Electricity transmission & distribution (communal)
Electricity transmission & distribution (offices)
Employee business travel
Waste disposal
Water & wastewater (offices)
Water & wastewater (communal)

Data Source
Billing data
Billing data
Fuel consumption data

Emissions
teCO2e
108
2,736
1,147

Billing data

266

Billing data
Billing data
Billing data
Mileage claims
Contractor data
Billing data
Billing data

968
82
23
98
129
8
16
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STRATEGIC OVERVIEW
STRATEGIC PLAN, VISION AND VALUES
The Group sets out its medium term strategic objectives in its strategic plan, which is published on the
Group’s website. The current strategic plan is called ‘Improving Lives to 2040’. One of the most
significant aspects of the plan is that it ‘pushes out’ the future new homes development programme to
2043, as part of the ‘Right Stock in the Right Location’ asset management strategy, to allow for the
replacement and renewal of the Group’s weakest performing housing stock. When developing the
Strategic Plan, the Board affirmed that the organisation’s vision and values would remain unchanged.
Strategic Plan
‘Improving Lives to 2040’ has five themes:
1.
2.
3.
4.
5.

Building Financial Strength
Improving Lives and Communities
Growing the Business through Development and Merger
Being a Catalyst for Change
An Organisation Fit for the Future

In adopting this strategy, the Board retained the increased focus on building financial strength, as a
fundamental ‘building block’ in the delivery of the other corporate objectives.
The strategic objectives are approved by the Board and performance against targets is reviewed and
monitored throughout the year. The Group’s Executive Management Team is responsible for the
management of day to day operations and delivery of the corporate objectives.
Our Vision
Improving Lives Incommunities
Our Values
We use our strength and influence to improve people’s lives.
We believe everyone should have the opportunity to fulfil their potential, and communities should be great
places to live.
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BUSINESS ENVIRONMENT
KEY RISKS
The Group has a comprehensive risk management strategy in place to identify and monitor risks in
relation to the delivery of its business objectives. Risks are assessed on both likelihood and impact
using a 5 + 5 scale (giving total risk scores in the range between 2 to 10). Risks that have a net score
(post control and mitigating actions) of 6 or more are classified as “key risks”. The risk scores are
regularly reviewed and are removed from the key strategic risk report at the point where the activity has
ceased, or the degree of mitigation is such that the risk score reduces to below a total score of 6. The
Group has a low tolerance for accepting legal, financial or reputational risks.
The Group’s Risk Register has been fully reworked by the Executive Management Team and the Senior
Leadership Team in the light of the Covid-19 pandemic, and the risk scores adjusted accordingly. The
reworked Risk Register was reviewed and approved by the Board at its meeting in May 2020. The key
risks are set out in the following table.
Table 6: Key Risks (Scoring 6+):

No.

1.

2.

3.

4.

5.

Risk

Risk Response

Reduction in demand for
Incommunities Homes
and Services resulting in
void and service charge
losses or Incommunities
failing to balance its
stock type and / or
overreliance on the
Bradford housing market
Failure to ensure there
are sufficient funds
available and/or the cost
of funds is within
business plan
expectations and/or the
funders covenants are
being met
Rental income
receivable less than
planned due to
increases in arrears
Failure to maintain an
adequate repairs and
maintenance service
within allocated
resources

Ensuring process developed to create
safe systems of work (SSOW) and
protect tenants and the workforce whilst
facilitating tenancy re-lets. Develop
(SSOW) to ensure new development
continues to programme enabling new
homes to become available for letting.

Failure to maintain the
security of business
data and confidential
information or the
requirements of GDPR

Review and revise business plan and
cash flow forecasts to ensure sufficient
liquidity remains within the business to
address all foreseeable outcomes.

Resources re-allocated to income
recovery and debt counselling in support
of customers adversely affected by the
economic outcomes of Covid-19.
Emergency repair service maintained
throughout the pandemic. Use of PPE
and development of SSOW for urgent
and routine repairs, addressing any
repair backlogs and protecting
customers, employees and housing
assets.
Continued investment in system
resilience and cyber security. Staff
training regarding maintaining GDPR
integrity in an agile / mobile / home
working environment.

Risk Score Post Mitigation
Prob.

Impact

Total

4

2

6

3

3

6

4

3

7

4

2

6

3

3

6
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6.

7.

8.

9.

10.

11.

12.

Failure to comply with
the Housing Health and
Safety Rating System
and construction
regulations

Failure to comply with
health and safety
obligations as a
carer/service provider or
employer
Failure to comply with
the Financial Criminal
Act 2017, the Bribery
Act 2010, and the
Money Laundering,
Terrorist Financing and
Transfer of Funds
Regulations 2017
Failure to ensure
primary data sets are
accurate and up to date
and properly maintained,
and ICT systems are
robust, resilient and
support the business.
Failure to manage
efficiently the Homes
England development
programme

Failure to recover from
disasters affecting the
housing stock

Failure to comply with
CQC requirements as a
provider of care and
support services and LA
Expectations for level of
service (Trustcare)

Heightened level of risk due to more
difficulties gaining access to properties
for essential maintenance and repair.
Focus on risk management and
mitigation with plans being developed to
resource work once access issues are
eased.
New risk assessments developed across
all relevant activities. Supply chains
developed to ensure PPE and cleaning
materials are available to support the
SSOW.
Risks relating to financial crime are not
expected to materially increase, but the
exposure to on-line threats, and misrepresentation are recognised and have
been part of the work re-design
necessary to maintain functions in an
agile operating environment.
ICT system, software and hardware
upgrades are underway. Many of these
are related to the on going ICT strategy.
Some digitalised services and functions
have been implemented more quickly
than envisaged.
Close liaison with Homes England has
been maintained throughout. Although
delivery deadlines have been adversely
affected by lockdown, the team has
retained focus on developing SSOW to
minimise disruption.
Mitigated through a combination of
access restrictions and the accumulation
of backlog repairs. This is being
addressed through a risk based
approach to essential servicing and
adopting SSOW to minimise disruption.
Revised risk assessments, development
of new SSOW supported by PPE and
additional cleaning materials. Close
working partnerships with NHS and local
authority provides additional support.

4

3

7

4

2

6

3

3

6

4

3

7

4

2

6

3

3

6

3

3

6

The key risks are reported at every Board meeting and continually monitored. In addition to scrutiny by
the Board, the Audit and Risk Committee oversees the risk management cycle. All Board Members
receive a Risk and Strategy Review and Risk Drivers’ Update every month. The Assistant Chief
Executive for Resources is responsible for reporting any significant changes to the key risks to the
Board.
The Group receives professional support and advice on risk management, including
benchmarking key risks with other organisations within the social housing sector.
All major commitments and investment projects are subject to a risk appraisal process using a consistent
methodology. All contracts and commitments over £250k require Executive Management Team
approval.
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ENVIRONMENTAL MATTERS
The Group has adopted an Environmental Management System (EMS) which enables the organisation
to identify and manage its impact on the environment. The Group has a full time energy officer who, in
addition to developing the EMS, works on schemes to secure external resources to allow the Group to
incorporate environmental technologies into new and existing developments.
EMPLOYEES
The Group has a long term strategy to support the management and development of its employees that
is fully aligned with and supportive of the overall strategic plan ‘Improving Lives to 2040’.
Every year the Board receives an annual employment report, which includes employee statistics,
including the rate of employee turnover and the rate and incidence of sickness absence. The Group
provides a comprehensive employee well-being service and invests in individual learning and personal
development as part of its organisational development strategy.
During the year, the Group appointed five new trade apprentices, all of whom started in September 2019,
and provided work placements for a number of students from local schools and colleges, as well as
providing placements from other training organisations who were retraining and/or requalifying for new
careers.
The Group also employed five people who had completed their Apprenticeships with Incommunities and
qualified in September 2019. They are now providing repair and maintenance services to our customers.
NEW HOMES CONSTRUCTION AND DEVELOPMENT
During the year, the Group took handover of 109 new affordable homes and completed the sale of four
homes developed for outright market sales. Some of these homes were part of the 2016-21 Homes
England Shared Ownership and Affordable Homes Programme and included 80 section 106 properties
purchased from developers. The Group also acquired 12 properties from QSH for market rent and two
empty homes to refurbish for affordable letting.
SOCIAL AND COMMUNITY ISSUES
The Group’s housing associations provide a number of additional services to their tenants and their
communities. These include services in the following areas:











Accessing accommodation
Practical support for new tenants including, in some cases, furniture packs
The Trustcare ‘falls response service’ in partnership with the NHS and the Council
Supporting tenants groups and community groups
Intensive housing management support for older people in frail health in sheltered housing schemes
Help and advice with energy efficiency
Accessing formal and vocational training
Specialist help such as courses on English as a second language and money advice
Worklessness and support in securing employment
Help with financial matters, such as debt advice
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BUSINESS PERFORMANCE
RESULTS FOR THE YEAR
At 31 March 2020, the Group owns and manages 22,991 (2019: 23,148) properties, of which 22,971
(2019: 23,140) are social housing properties.
Turnover for the year is £101.4m (2019: £98.4m), an increase of £3.0m (3.0%) on the prior year. This
increase is primarily due to additional amounts receivable from the sale of first tranche shared ownership
housing properties during the year of £1.4m and additional income from the development and sale of
open market properties during the year of £1.9m. The increase in turnover has been impacted by the
loss in revenue associated with the final year of the statutory 1.0% rent cut. Of the turnover, £96.9m
(95.6%) (2019: £94.9m (96.4%)) has been generated from social housing activities. This is the core
undertaking of the business and will continue to be so going forward.
The operating margin for the year is 25.6% (2019: 17.0%). In addition to the increase in turnover, the
Group has also benefited from a significant reduction in operating costs of £5.9m, which have outturned
at £78.8m (2019: £84.7m) for the year. This reduction is made up of savings in service charge costs,
planned and major repairs, bad debts, impairment of housing properties, and other income and
expenditure totalling £10.1m. This includes a reduction in bad debts of £3.2m. In large part, this is due
to the change in the basis used for determining the bad and doubtful debts provision, as set out in Note
2. to the financial statements. It also includes a reduction in impairment of housing properties of £2.1m.
This is in connection with the demolition and redevelopment of 11 tower blocks, as set out in Note 2. to
the financial statements. The savings of £10.1m have been partly offset by increases in management,
responsive repairs, depreciation of housing properties, and other income and expenditure totalling
£4.2m.
During 2019, the Group refinanced a significant proportion of its bank debt with the on-lent proceeds of a
bond issue (see below). This resulted in a one-off refinancing cost of £24.8m, as set out in Note 9. to the
financial statements, which had a significant effect on the overall results for the year.
The surplus for the year is £14.4m (2019: deficit £24.7m). In 2019, the Group would have generated a
surplus for the year of £0.1m excluding the one-off refinancing cost of £24.8m. On a like-for-like basis,
the surplus for the year shows an increase of £14.3m in comparison with 2019. This is due to the
increase in turnover of £3.0m coupled with the significant reduction in operating costs of £5.9m, together
with an increase in the gain on sale and disposal of housing properties and other fixed assets of £2.7m,
a reduction in net interest payable and financing costs of £4.6m resulting from the loan refinancing
exercise, and a reduction in taxation of 0.4m. This has been partly offset by an increase in the cost of
property sales of £2.3m.
During the year, the Group invested £20.2m (2019: £29.7m) through its refurbishment and property
development programmes in its existing stock and in new homes. This involved replacing major
components such as kitchens, bathrooms, central heating systems, internal and external doors, and
windows in its existing properties. It also involved building a range of new properties, primarily for social
housing rent. In addition to this investment, the Group spent £26.5m (2019: £26.8m) keeping its existing
stock in good repair.
The Group’s housing stock is included in the accounts at cost (before depreciation and impairment) of
£615m (2019: £600m).
At the year-end, the Group’s debt totals £299m (2019: £303m). Detailed information about the Group’s
loans is set out in Note 23. to the financial statements.
The Group’s reserves at the year-end are £39.8m (2019: £28.8m).
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FINANCIAL PERFORMANCE
Table 7: Summary of the Group’s Consolidated Financial Performance:
Financial Performance

Turnover
Cost of sales
Operating expenditure
Gain on sale of housing properties
Operating surplus
Obligation on acquisition of subsidiary
Share of operating surplus in joint venture
Net interest charges
Refinancing costs
Corporation tax
Surplus / (deficit) for the year
Operating margin
Net margin (after tax)

2019/20
£m

101.4
(2.9)
(78.8)
6.3
26.0
(11.6)
14.4
25.6%
14.2%

2018/19
£m

98.4
(0.6)
(84.7)
3.6
16.7
(16.2)
(24.8)
(0.4)
(24.7)
17.0%
(25.1)%

2017/18
£m

98.5
(83.7)
4.9
19.7
(16.0)
3.7
20.0%
3.8%

2016/17
£m

98.3
(85.4)
1.3
14.2
(17.8)
(3.6)
14.4%
(3.7)%

2015/16
£m

103.2
(0.3)
(86.0)
1.2
18.1
(0.9)
0.1
(18.1)
(0.8)
17.5%
(0.8)%

Over recent years the Board has put in place a number of initiatives to improve the Group’s operating
performance.
These include implementing a savings plan and undertaking several corporate
restructures. The Board has also placed a renewed focus on improving value for money. This is taking
the form of an efficiency drive, as part of ‘building financial strength’, a key theme of ‘Improving Lives to
2040’. These actions should result in a strengthening of the operating surplus over time, despite the
combined pressures arising from the effects of the Covid-19 pandemic and continuing Welfare Reform.
The successful refinancing of the Group’s loan portfolio in 2019 has significantly reduced net interest
charges going forward. In comparison with 2018/19, net interest charges have decreased by £4.6m
(28%) in the year. This has provided a significant boost to the Group’s ‘bottom line’ and a corresponding
improvement in net margin.
ACCOUNTING POLICIES
The principal accounting policies of the Group are set out in Note 2. to the financial statements. The
policies that are most critical to the financial results relate to accounting for housing properties, and
include the capitalisation of costs, depreciation, the treatment of shared ownership properties, and the
treatment of capital grants.
FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
The Board has full responsibility for assessing and managing risk, and ensures that the Group operates
in accordance with an approved set of risk management processes. These include the maintenance of a
risk management strategy and a risk map, and the regular review of the key risks to the business by the
Board and/or the Group’s Audit and Risk Committee.
The Group’s operations expose it to a variety of financial risks that include the effects of interest rate risk,
liquidity risk and credit risk. In addition to the risk management strategy and risk map, the Group has in
place a treasury management policy that seeks to limit any adverse financial impacts associated with the
Group’s operations by actively managing its debt finance and related finance costs.
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The Group uses various financial instruments to finance the Group’s operations. The existence of these
financial instruments exposes the Group to a number of financial risks. The Directors have identified the
principal financial risks arising from the Group’s operations as credit risk, primarily arising from tenants’
ability to meet their rental obligations, interest rate risk, relating to the level of indebtedness, and liquidity
risk, having sufficient cash resources to meet obligations in the short and medium-term. The Board
reviews and agrees policies for managing each of these risks which are summarised below.
Interest Rate Risk
The Group finances its operations through a mixture of retained surpluses, bank borrowings and capital
markets funding. The Group’s exposure to interest rate fluctuations on its bank borrowings is managed
through the use of embedded fixed rate swaps and a defined proportion of variable rate instruments to
reduce any impact of interest rate increases.
Compliance with the requirements of the Group’s bank borrowings is closely monitored to ensure that
financial covenants are met. Close monitoring of market movements in interest rates and an active
approach towards treasury management takes place within the Group to ensure interest rate risk is
properly managed. The Group’s Audit and Risk Committee actively reviews funding risks, which are also
factored into the Business Plan as a key sensitivity, in accordance with the Treasury Management
Policy.
The Treasury Management Policy stipulates that the Group must operate with a minimum of 60% of
drawn debt at a fixed rate of interest. At the year-end, 81% (2019: 80%) of total loans are on fixed rates
with maturities greater than one year.
Liquidity Risk
Liquidity risk is the risk that the Group might be unable to meet its obligations. The Group mitigates this
financial risk by ensuring sufficient cash and secured, undrawn loan facilities are in place to meet
foreseeable needs, and that cash and short-term deposits are invested with approved counterparties.
Cash flow forecasts are produced for the Board as part of routine financial information packs (at least
quarterly) and the Group maintains a minimum available cash balance of £5m.
Detailed scenario planning is undertaken on the potential impact of this risk to the business, and stress
testing is used to investigate the financial capacity within the business plan.
During the year, the Board of Sadeh Lok authorised a new £20m bank facility, replacing an existing
£10.8m facility. This new facility has significantly improved terms.
At the year-end, the Group has a cash balance of £13.9m (2019: £11.5m) and undrawn, secured funding
available of £54.0m (2019: £40.9m), plus access to a further £50m retained bond.
Credit Risk
Credit risk is a significant risk to the Group and is subject to increased focus following the introduction of
Welfare Reform and specifically the Government’s decision to transfer benefit payments directly to some
tenants. Further pressure has been created by the introduction of the welfare “benefit cap”, the underoccupancy surcharge, which is being compounded by the LHA caps applied to tenants aged under 35.
Detailed scenario planning is used to estimate the impact of these changes on existing and future
tenancies. The business plan takes account of these changes in setting future levels of customer
indebtedness. The risk is mitigated with the mechanisms established to support and sustain tenancies
and also focus on affordability as part of the tenancy allocation processes.
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Whilst the full impact of Welfare Reform is only just filtering through, the impact on the business from
those customers so far affected has been less financially detrimental than anticipated, indicating that
those mitigating actions are proving effective.
FACILITIES
The Group has bank loan facilities with Barclays, NatWest and RBS, other loan financing through The
Housing Finance Corporation (THFC) and Orchardbrook, and capital markets funding arranged in 2019
through the bond issue (the ‘Bond’).
The Bond
On 21 March 2019, Incommunities Treasury Plc (the ’Company’) issued a 30-year £250m own name
public issue dated senior secured bond (the ‘Bond’) at a coupon rate of 3.25%. The initial offer to the
market was for a principal amount of £200m of bonds (the ‘Principal Amount’, the ‘Issued Bond’) with a
principal amount of £50m of bonds retained for later issue (the ‘Retained Bond’). The Issued Bond was
priced at 99.184% (the ‘Bond Issue Price’) equivalent to a Discount on Issue of £1,632k (0.816%). The
net funds received were £198.368m (£99.184 per £100 issued).
In arranging the Bond, the Company incurred Bond Issue Costs of £2.218m, which were paid directly
from the proceeds of the Bond, or by other Group entities on the Company’s behalf. These latter costs
were reimbursed by the Company through intercompany accounts.
The Discount on Issue and the Bond Issue Costs will be amortised over the term of the Bond. Interest is
payable by the Company to the bondholders at a rate of 3.25% on the Principal Amount.
The Bond is secured by way of fixed charges over the housing properties of Incommunities Limited
(‘Incommunities’) in favour of Prudential Trustee Company Limited acting as Security Trustee.
The Principal Amount is due for repayment in March 2049.
Following the Bond issue, the Company provided Credit Facilities, equal to the amount of the Bond, to
Incommunities and Sadeh Lok (the ‘Borrowers’). The Issued Bond was allocated in the ratio 90:10
(Incommunities/Sadeh Lok) and the Retained Bond allocated in the ratio 100:0 (Incommunities/Sadeh
Lok). The Credit Facilities are provided under formal Loan Agreements between the Company and the
Borrowers. These agreements are not listed.
On 21 March 2019, the Company made advances to the Borrowers from the Issued Bond of principal
amounts of £180m (Incommunities) and £20m (Sadeh Lok). Each principal amount was advanced at a
discount, equivalent to a 90:10 (Incommunities/Sadeh Lok) pro rata split of the Discount on Issue of
£1.632m, and after loan issue costs, equivalent to a 90:10 (Incommunities/Sadeh Lok) pro rata split of
the Bond Issue Costs of £2.218m.
The discount and loan issue costs applied to the principal amounts are amortised over the period of the
Credit Facilities, which run until March 2049. Interest is receivable by the Company from the Borrowers
at a rate of 3.25% on the principal amounts of the advance.
The advances fall due for repayment in March 2049.
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Overall Facilities
The Group’s overall facilities total £355.9m (2019: £346.7m) excluding the £50m Retained Bond. These
facilities are secured against the Group’s housing stock and certain freehold offices. The funds are
drawn as required to meet cash flow needs. At the year-end, £300.3m (2019: £304.2m) of the facilities
were drawn (excluding a fair value adjustment of £1.5m (2019: £1.7m)). This leaves £54.0m (2019:
£40.9m) available to draw (excluding the Bond Discount on Issue of £1.6m). 81% (2019: 80%) of the
drawn amounts are on fixed rates with maturities greater than 12 months. The Group also has cash and
cash equivalents available at the year-end of £13.9m (2019: £11.5m) and an unused overdraft facility of
£1.0m (2019: £1.0m). The following table sets out the position on financial loan covenants.
Table 8: Financial Loan Covenants Targets and Performance at 31 March 2020:
Financial Loan
Covenant

Targets
Interest cover ratio
Gearing
Debt per unit
Actuals
Interest cover ratio
Gearing
Debt per unit

Funders
Barclays

NatWest

RBS

Bond

1.1
N/A
£23k

1.1
70%
N/A

1.1
60%
N/A

N/A
N/A
N/A

2.3
N/A
12.3k

2.3
49%
N/A

3.1
40%
N/A

N/A
N/A
N/A

The Barclays and NatWest facilities are provided to Incommunities, and the RBS facility to Sadeh Lok.
The actual performance is based on the results of the relevant company. All of the financial loan
covenants have been met and have significant headroom.
Performance against the financial loan covenants is formally tested at 31st March each year. In addition,
actual performance is tracked monthly and reported to the Board in the latest available Finance Report.
The Finance Report is formally reviewed by the Executive Management Team every month.
CASH FLOW
The Group’s cash inflows come from two main sources, rental income on housing properties and
receipts in relation to property sales to tenants under the ‘Right to Buy’ and ‘Right to Acquire’ legislation.
The majority of rental income is currently paid direct to the Group via Housing Benefit. However, the
proportion of customers who receive their benefit directly is increasing as a result of the introduction of
Universal Credit. The provision for arrears included in the business plan takes account of the future
expected roll out of Universal Credit.
The Group’s principal outflows are operating expenditure for managing and maintaining the housing
properties, interest payable, and the costs associated with component replacement in existing properties
and the development of new properties. Financing for this later activity includes capital grants and loan
funding.
Cash flow forecasts are prepared on a regular basis, and include monthly, annual, and 3-yearly
forecasts, with appropriate cash flow information included in the monthly Finance Report.
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VALUE FOR MONEY
The Group’s Approach
In addressing VFM within the organisation, the Group bases its approach to Self-Assessment around the
3 E’s - Economy, Efficiency and Effectiveness. This is usually defined as:


Economy – the cost of inputs. An examination of business costs, year-on-year and in comparison
with other organisations.



Efficiency – the transformation of inputs to outputs. A review of the outcomes of business activities,
rates of return on capital, operating outcomes.



Effectiveness – achieving desired outcomes.
satisfaction and wider corporate aims.

Achievement of strategic objectives, customer

The Group considers VFM is about moving towards an optimum balance between economy, efficiency
and effectiveness by getting more quality and quantity from the same or fewer resources, improving
services to customers, and using efficiency to re-invest in front line services and building new homes.
VFM Self Assessment
In April 2018 the Regulator of Social Housing launched the new Value for Money Code of Practice which
can be found on the website:
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/72582
3/VfM_Standard_April_2018.pdf
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/69722
6/VfM_Code_of_Practice_April_2018.pdf
The standard sets out the requirements placed on Registered Providers. The self-assessment set out
below has been developed to demonstrate the Group’s approach to achieving Value for Money (VFM)
and compliance with the standard.
The standard sets out some primary objectives for all Registered Providers, which the Group meets as
shown in the following table.
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Table 9: Primary Objectives of Registered Providers from the VFM Standard - April 2018
Registered Providers must
Demonstrate

a. a robust approach to achieving
value for money – this must include
a robust approach to decision
making and a rigorous appraisal of
potential options for improving
performance.

b. regular and appropriate
consideration by the Board of
potential value for money gains –
this must include full consideration
of costs and benefits of alternative
commercial, organisational and
delivery structures.

c. consideration of value for money
across their whole business and
where they invest in non-social
housing activity, they should
consider whether this generates
returns commensurate to the risk
involved and justification where this
is not the case.

Evidence of Compliance

VFM runs through the Group’s Corporate Strategy, ‘Improving
Lives to 2040’. Option appraisal is used for all strategic decision
making setting out the cost and benefits of different courses of
action.
Stress testing and mitigation is used to ensure the Business
Plan is robust and the Group has in place actions to mitigate any
area of particular concern.
Work to achieve VFM is continuous and extends into every
aspect of the Group. A comprehensive refinancing strategy
completed in March 2019 has created a funding platform for the
Group to address the weakest performing assets with a view to
improving tenancy sustainability and housing management
costs. The recent Covid-19 pandemic has accelerated the
Groups adoption of remote and agile working and resulted in a
number of initiatives to review operating costs and back office
functions to generate further VFM gains over the next 18 to 24
month period.
The Board drives VFM within the Group through review and
approval of the VFM Self-Assessment, recommending efficiency
gains and improved performance metrics as part of the business
planning process and individual scheme appraisal and review.
The Audit and Risk Committee reviews the VFM action plan
during the year.
In recent years the Group has reviewed its governance
arrangements to improve efficiency and provide increasing
commercial awareness within its development arm, BCHT
Development Company Limited (‘BCHT’).
The Group retains its core focus on providing social housing and
over 95% of the Group’s turnover is from social housing
activities. In recent years, cost benefit analysis has led to
decisions not to enter into some contracts – for example some
trust care services, homelessness contract and allocations
offered by the Bradford MDC. Commercial activity has been
restricted to new development for outright sale. This is closely
managed by the BCHT Board, which has a revised delivery
target of 200 units by 2025/26.
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d. that they have appropriate targets
in place for measuring performance
in achieving value for money in
delivering their strategic objectives,
and that they regularly monitor and
report their performance against
these targets.

Financial targets are reflected in the latest approved business
plan. In 2018, an Aspirational Business Plan was developed
that included the refinancing of the business and the adoption
of a much more ambitious development strategy. The strategy
included the decommissioning of the 1,700 poorest performing
assets (high cost / low demand housing units) with 3,000 newly
built, high demand but low cost family homes. This was
supported by reducing the total cost of borrowing and
increasing access to borrowing facilities much further into the
future to enable the funding of more new development. The
Bond issue and loan refinancing exercise that took place in
2019 has achieved these joint objectives of reducing the total
cost of borrowing and increasing access to borrowing facilities.
Performance against the budgets is reviewed on a bi-monthly
basis. Business targets are included in appraisal objectives
and reviewed by the Board on a quarterly basis.

Registered providers must
annually publish evidence in the
statutory accounts to enable
stakeholders to understand the
provider’s:
i.

performance against its own
value for money targets and any
metrics set out by the
Regulator, and how that
performance compares to
peers.

ii.

measurable plans to address
any areas of underperformance,
including clearly stating any
areas where improvements
would not be appropriate and
the rationale for this.

i.

The Group’s performance against its VFM targets and the
Regulator of Social Housing’s VFM metrics is set out in
Table 11 to 14 below. Table 11 shows performance
against set targets, and Table 12 provides forecast
performance. Tables 13 and 14 provide a summary of the
benchmarking review undertaken as part of the Group’s
VFM Self-Assessment.

ii.

A summary of the key VFM action plans is included in this
report as well as the future VFM metrics based on the
latest approved business plan (Table 12).

The Group is committed to demonstrating and improving Value for Money as an integral part of the
Group-wide corporate strategy. VFM objectives are woven into the five themes of the Corporate
Strategy, ‘Improving Lives to 2040’, providing the means for future investment, growth and asset
transformation.
Although the requirement to publish a VFM Self-Assessment has ended, the Group has adopted this
methodology to review the financial performance of the Group from a VFM perspective. The SelfAssessment considers performance against the Regulator’s published VFM metrics, the Group’s own
existing VFM targets and both trends and performance benchmarks. The information in the SelfAssessment is used by the Board to assess the relative efficiency of the key elements of service in the
context of its operating experience (relatively high rates of tenancy terminations and higher than average
void losses) and provide the basis for reporting VFM performance in this report.
Evidence as to how the Corporate Strategy drives VFM within the Group is demonstrated in the following
table, which shows the five themes of the Group’s strategic plan and the key VFM objectives from the
five themes.
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Table 10: Group Corporate Strategy, VFM Objectives and VFM impact
Corporate
Strategy
Theme

1. Building
Financial
Strength

VFM objectives from the Group
Strategic Plan

Impact of VFM Objectives



Deliver the refinancing of the
business
Progress the aspirational business
plan



Continue to improve void
performance and income
collection
Broaden and strengthen the
impact of the VFM strategy,
through business efficiency,
service effectiveness and robust
procurement
Make strategic decisions on the
1,700 poorest performing assets





Continue to support customers
through welfare reforms





Deliver a single point of contact for
customers using digital access
routes for a suite of services
Implement the revised 10 year
asset strategy, linked to smart
homes and address stigmatisation





Continue the development
programme to deliver 1,400
homes by 2025/26 of which 200
will be for market sale, plan to
deliver 3,000 additional social
homes from 2025 to 2040





Deliver the right homes in the right
locations to sustain mixed tenure
communities by tackling the 1,700
poorest performing assets










2. Improving
Lives &
Communities



3. Growing The
Business
Through
Development &
Merger









Reduced borrowing cost and
increasing access to funding
Using operating and financial
efficiencies to address poor performing
housing stock – resulting in the decommissioning of 11 Tower Blocks and
a significant improvement in void loss
performance
Improving income collection reduces
adverse effect of Welfare Reform
Ensuring VFM continues to drive
decision making within the Group,
optimising resources available for
delivery of services and new
investment
De-commissioning, demolishing or
investing to improve the performance
of the poorest performing housing
assets
Ensuring customers are able to sustain
tenancies & the Group maintains
income streams for service delivery
Enhancing customer experience &
generating operating savings from
increased automation
Investing in existing stock, improving
the sustainability of the homes,
reducing heating poverty and
maintaining customer demand
Ensuring the Group continues to
increase the number of homes under
management, replacing out dated and
unsuitable housing stock with high
demand low cost homes – using its
capacity to build homes for outright
sale
Reducing the cost of providing homes
which are low demand, un-economic
and replacing them with new homes,
high demand which are efficient
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4. Being A
Catalyst For
Change

5. An
Organisation Fit
For The Future



Innovate in the delivery of smarter
homes and customer services





Pilot and take action using
innovative thinking and
technologies





Develop a new Organisational
Development strategy to create an
evidence driven and agile culture
in which employees can flourish





Maintain customer focus and
implement efficient, smart service



Using technology to improve services
to customers, the customer experience
and automating processes where
possible on efficiency grounds
Using the economies of scale available
to the Group to invest in new
technology and innovation as the basis
for driving efficiency across the
business
Ensuring colleagues remain adaptable
and resource focused in a positive way
to ensure services continue to develop
in an efficient manner, whilst retaining
customer focus
Using technology, people and
organisational development to provide
efficient and effective services

VFM Metrics
The Group’s performance against the Regulatory Standard VFM Metrics is as follows:
Table 11: Regulatory Standard VFM Metrics - Performance Summary
Group
Performance
Actual
2020

Group
Performance
Target
2020

Group
Performance
Actual
2019

Metric

Measure

1

Reinvestment

4.7%

6.4%

6.9%

2a

New Supply (Social Housing)

0.5%

0.5%

0.5%

2b

New Supply (Non-Social Housing)

0.07%

0.02%

0.00%

3

Gearing

65.8%

68.0%

67.7%

4

EBITDA-MRI (Interest Cover)

2.1

2.6

0.6

5

Headline Social Housing (CPU)

£3,162

£2,938

£2,896

6a

Operating Margin (Social Housing Lettings)

23.5%

15.7%

18.9%

6b

Operating Margin (Overall)

19.3%

17.6%

13.3%

7

Return on Capital Employed (ROCE)

5.8%

4.2%

3.8%

The performance reflects the operating conditions facing the Group.


Reinvestment has remained consistent, with a balance between new development expenditure and
investment in existing stock.



New Supply (Social Housing) represents 109 new social housing properties handed over during the
year. This has resulted in an outperformance of the target.



New Supply (Non-Social Housing) represents the acquisition and development of 16 non-social
housing properties during the year. No specific target was set for this activity.
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The level of Gearing reflects the increase in total borrowing as a result of the refinancing exercise.
The repayment of higher cost bank facilities necessitated the breaking of certain fixed rate hedges,
requiring additional funding. However, forecast operational efficiencies coupled with lower debt
repayments create additional headroom for the Group going forwards (see Table 12).



EBITDA-MRI reflects the compound effect of the rent cut over a four year period against a backdrop
of increasing pressure on business costs. The improvement in this indicator in comparison with the
prior year is primarily as a result of the refinancing exercise, which has significantly reduced interest
payable.



Headline Social Housing costs per unit continue to be in the lowest quartile and reflect the relatively
low running costs of the Group.



Both operating margin measures have been adversely affected by the rent cut / cost inflation
dynamic, but are now improving as a result of the initiatives put in place by the Board to improve the
Group’s operating performance.



The ROCE is equally affected by a fall in income with increasing running costs.

The performance targets are based on the business plan for the financial year 2018/19.
Overall, the performance of the business is within the target range.
The successful refinancing of the Group has enabled the next stage of the ‘Building Financial Strength’
strategy to be followed. This is the longer term decommissioning of the weakest performing housing
assets and the continued improvements in operating efficiency. The actual costs of refinancing, relating
to the raising of new funding streams and the Bond issue, are being amortised over the life of the facilities
and, therefore, do not have a material effect on the VFM metrics.
Looking ahead, and referring to the latest approved business plan, it is possible to forecast the
Regulator’s metrics, as follows.
Table 12: Forecast Future Performance

Source

Year

Actual
Forecast
Forecast
Forecast
Forecast
Forecast

2020
2021
2022
2023
2024
2025

ReInv.

New
Supply
(Social
Housing)

New
Supply
(NonSocial
Housing)

4.7%
7.3%
8.0%
8.1%
7.2%
6.5%

0.5%
0.5%
0.6%
0.6%
0.6%
0.6%

0.07%
0.00%
0.07%
0.18%
0.20%
0.22%

Gearing

EBITDAMRI
Interest
Cover

Headline
Social
Housing
CPU

65.8%
64.3%
62.8%
59.4%
54.9%
49.9%

2.1
2.6
2.1
2.9
3.6
3.9

£3,162
£3,055
£3,466
£3,269
£3,100
£3,098

Operating Operating
Margin
Margin
(SHL)
(Overall)

23.5%
16.7%
19.4%
24.9%
27.3%
28.0%

19.3%
16.7%
19.4%
24.9%
27.3%
28.0%

ROCE

5.8%
4.1%
5.7%
6.6%
6.8%
6.7%

The refinancing has enabled the Group to plan to achieve its VFM objectives over the medium term as
follows:


Resources for reinvestment in housing stock increases, particularly new development.



Similarly new supply, which previously was forecast at zero beyond 2025/26, will continue until 2043
at around 1% of stock per annum.
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Gearing, though initially increased as a result of the additional borrowing for the refinancing exercise,
begins to reduce as the Group’s improved financial performance reduces the level of indebtedness.
In the longer term, this should create capacity for further borrowing and investment.



EBITDA-MRI, again the improved operating efficiency coupled with reduced interest payments shows
an improving level of interest cover.



Headline social housing cost per unit are forecast to remains at around £3k for the foreseeable future
as expected efficiencies partially offset inflationary cost increases. The increase in 2021/22 follows
the forecast increase in major repairs expenditure from that particular year.



Over the five year forecast period, the operating margin (SHL) increases to 28%, a level in excess of
that identified by the Board as desirable and much closer to the sector norm.



ROCE increases reflecting both the increase in efficiency and lower future borrowing costs.

Benchmarking Performance
As well as reviewing targets and trends, the Board reviews the Group’s performance compared to other
similar organisations. A detailed benchmarking analysis is carried out as part of the Group’s SelfAssessment using a sample of 10 larger northern based housing associations using the most recent
published Global Accounts (2018/19), as follows.
Table 13: Benchmarking VFM Metrics (2018/19)

Organisation

ReInv.

New Supply New Supply
(Social
(Non-Social
Housing)
Housing

Gearing

EBITDAMRI
Interest
Cover

Headline
Social
Operating
Housing Margin (SHL)
CPU

Operating
Margin
(Overall)

ROCE

Accent
Bolton

3.4%
14.2%

0.4%
0.5%

0.00%
0.00%

44.0%
8.5%

1.49
-0.84

£3,677
£4,476

23.7%
13.1%

21.0%
7.3%

3.0%
6.0%

Gentoo
Incommunities
Karbon
Thirteen
Together

3.2%
6.9%
7.0%
6.5%
6.4%

0.2%
0.5%
1.7%
1.0%
1.0%

0.61%
0.00%
0.13%
0.16%
0.32%

52.1%
67.7%
43.8%
23.3%
56.1%

1.50
0.56
2.06
2.51
0.55

£3,367
£2,896
£3,135
£3,632
£3,881

22.4%
18.9%
25.8%
25.7%
24.4%

19.4%
13.3%
24.6%
17.7%
12.9%

3.2%
3.8%
3.6%
3.3%
2.6%

Torus62
Wakefield
Yorkshire

13.5%
6.5%
6.7%

1.1%
1.4%
1.5%

0.05%
0.00%
0.16%

23.7%
46.8%
47.1%

3.29
1.93
1.78

£3,040
£3,311
£3,342

28.8%
23.4%
29.3%

24.7%
19.9%
29.1%

5.5%
4.1%
3.6%

Lower Quartile
Median
Upper Quartile

4.2%
6.2%
8.7%

0.6%
1.4%
2.5%

0.00%
0.00%
0.13%

32.6%
43.4%
53.9%

1.39
1.84
2.38

£3,180
£3,690
£4,690

23.1%
29.2%
34.6%

20.0%
25.8%
30.8%

3.0%
3.8%
4.7%

The shaded boxes indicate the quartile in which the Group’s performance sits. The mean performance is
the average performance of the benchmarked group.
In many of the measures, the Group performs close to the median of the benchmark group, but areas of
weaker performance have been identified and are subject to concerted management action.


Gearing is known to be higher than the benchmark group. This is related to the relatively low cost of
transferred housing stock and the quantity of post transfer investment.
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EBITDA-MRI is below the benchmark group but is expected to improve as a result of improved
operating efficiencies, particularly in responsive maintenance and repairs.



Similarly, operating margin is below the average for the group, but is set for a significant improvement
over the coming years.

The Group also compares the individual costs that make up the headline social housing cost per unit with
its benchmark group, as follows.
Table 14: Benchmarking Cost Per Unit (CPU) (2018/19)

Organisation

No. Units Headline
Owned and
Social
Managed at Housing
year-end
CPU

Man.
Costs

Serv.
Charge
Costs

Routine
Maint.
Costs

Planned
Maint.
Costs

Major
Repairs
Exp.

Lease
Costs

Capital
Major
Repairs
Exp.

Other
(Social
Housing
Letting)
Costs

Other
Social
Housing
Activities

Accent

18,735

£3,677

£995

£466

£938

£520

-

-

£510

£117

£130

Bolton

17,580

£4,476

£1,724

£192

£939

£346

-

-

£858

-

£416

Gentoo

28,896

£3,367

£947

£91

£866

£366

£157

-

£890

£6

£44

Incommunities 22,080

£2,896

£1,095

£157

£910

£216

£87

-

£334

£24

£74

Karbon

25,595

£3,135

£559

£528

£889

£539

-

-

£373

£44

£203

Thirteen

32,877

£3,632

£600

£358

£958

£99

£623

£3

£615

-

£377

Together

36,481

£3,881

£887

£336

£766

-

£217

£23

£710

£156

£786

Torus62

37,446

£3,040

£1,125

£259

£554

£288

£221

-

£406

£37

£151

Wakefield

31,439

£3,311

£1,321

£153

£561

£78

£409

-

£538

£36

£215

Yorkshire

16,374

£3,342

£889

£398

£713

£310

£297

£10

£658

£35

£33

In terms of headline social housing costs per unit, the Group occupies the median position of the
comparator benchmark group for both management and maintenance costs per unit. The Group
compares favourably on service charge costs, major repairs expenditure and other social housing costs
per unit with its comparator benchmark group.
In terms of efficiency, the Group is able to demonstrate that increased efficiency and lower borrowing
costs achieve better outcomes for customers. The refinancing exercise is already allowing for the
diversion of resources to new development and investment in existing housing stock, and away from the
cost of funding. This should enable the Group to build new homes and provide better quality homes for
existing residents. This performance is reflected in improvements in the quantity of new units built and
reductions in forecast future management costs.
In addition to the costs noted above, the Group has not traditionally compared favourably on void losses
and the cost of borrowing. However, void losses have been the subject of significant management action
to improve performance. This has been boosted by the decision to decommission 11 Tower Blocks over
the past 3 years, which were high management cost and suffered from low demand. The relatively higher
borrowing cost has been addressed through the refinancing strategy.

29

Incommunities Group Limited
STRATEGIC REPORT (Continued)
VFM Evaluation and Monitoring
A degree of effectiveness can be identified using a suite of customer satisfaction measures as set out in
the following table. The results of the independent customer survey show an overall dip in satisfaction
this year in comparison with previous years. Management is aware of this and is putting in place a
number of action plans to improve satisfaction.
Table 15: Customer Survey
Measure

Overall satisfaction
Repairs satisfaction Home
The overall quality of
your home (new tenants
2015)
The value for money
for your rent
The value for money for
your service charge

2019
Incomm.

2018
Incomm.

2016
Incomm.

2019
Sadeh Lok

2018
Sadeh Lok

2016
Sadeh Lok

82%

85%

84%

80%

83%

92%

97%

96%

96%

97%

93%

86%

72%

81%

83%

N/A

87%

83%

78%

85%

84%

N/A

88%

85%

59%

77%

70%

N/A

N/A

79%

In addition to the annual independent customer survey, a range of satisfaction measures are collected in a
Performance Report as part of the Performance Management Framework. These include; satisfaction
with repairs and maintenance, adaptations, complaints handling and responding to ASB complaints.
The Performance Reports show both Incommunities and Sadeh Lok have maintained a relatively high and
consistent level of performance across the suite of measures during a period of increasing efficiency, as
shown in the tables below.
Table 16: Incommunities Limited
Key Performance
Indicator

Income collection rate
Rent arrears
Void Loss
Void turnaround (days)
Properties with CP12*
Customer satisfaction
Tenancy turnover

2019/20
Actual

2019/20
Target

2018/19
Actual

2017/18
Actual

2016/17
Actual

2015/16
Actual

99.2%
8.2%
1.1%
39
100%
82%
10.0%

99.4%
8.4%
1.8%
27
100%
87%
12.0%

99.1%
7.8%
1.5%
36
100%
83%
11.2%

99.7%
5.8%
3.0%
62
99%
88%
12.3%

98.6%
6.3%
6.3%
89
100%
88%
13.5%

98.7%
6.3%
6.3%
96
100%
88%
14.1%
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Table 17: Sadeh Lok Limited
Key Performance
Indicator

Income collection rate
Rent arrears
Void Loss
Void turnaround (days)
% properties with CP12*
Customer satisfaction
Tenancy turnover

2019/20
Actual

2019/20
Target

2018/19
Actual

2017/18
Actual

2016/17
Actual

2015/16
Actual

99.5%
5.1%
0.3%
22
100%
80%
8.0%

100%
5.5%
1.8%
27
100%
87%
8.0%

100.4%
6.4%
1.0%
30
100%
85%
6.4%

101.5%
6.3%
1.1%
42
100%
92%
8.1%

103.7%
6.6%
1.2%
25
100%
92%
9.1%

99.9%
5.6%
0.6%
28
100%
95%
8.4%

* CP12 is a Landlord’s Gas Safety Record
The Group monitors service performance through monthly performance reports to the Executive
Management Team, Boards and Committees, and service users. These are used to ensure operational
objectives are met, and provide the basis for the attainment of corporate objectives. Performance
management reports include service cost information to enable management and the Committees and
Boards to monitor key service costs throughout the year.


Income collection rates vary between the two entities largely due to differences in the level of
deprivation affecting their areas of operation. Collection rates have remained relatively stable. This
is a testament to internal improvements in the management of income against a background of
welfare reform, which has had a negative impact on the benefit income received by some groups of
tenants. Pilot studies show that Universal Credit increases bad debts and arrears and the Group
continues to develop its income management service to mitigate these effects.



Rent arrears are expected to increase as a result of Covid-19 and the introduction of welfare reform
and the transition from the direct payment of housing benefit.



Void losses have been a challenge for Incommunities arising from the softening of demand in
Bradford for larger family flats and high rise accommodation. The level of turnover is high relative to
peer groups, along with the void turnaround time (which is adversely affected by the time taken to
create sustainable tenancies). New development and continuous improvement in the void
management process are key aspects of the Group’s strategic plan ‘Improving Lives to 2040’, and
has proven effective as demonstrated in our improved void rates.



Gas servicing is a critical health and safety maintenance service provided to customers with gas
appliances. Gas safety compliance is monitored by the Board and the Group uses every possible
legal means to gain access to properties with gas appliances to ensure the safety inspections are
carried out. All properties with expired safety certificates are in the legal process.



Aggregated customer satisfaction has recorded something of a decrease, but this is thought to be a
combination of statistical variation, the impact of Welfare Reform and other wider issues on
customers and residents.

Effectiveness is measured by the attainment of strategic objectives – growth and development of the
business, improving services to customers and improving the quality of new homes. The ROCE (Return
on Capital Employed) is one measure of capital efficiency. Within the Group, the Asset Management
Strategy is developed around individual and group asset performance measured by net present value over
the life of the Business Plan.
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The Group’s Asset Management Strategy has been developed to target future capital expenditure based
on the latest stock condition information matched to income collection rates and levels of occupancy.
This information is used to calculate the net present value of individual blocks and housing schemes and
allows the assets to be assessed as:


Positive yield – low level void/high rental yield, low to medium improvement/repair cost.



Negative yield – high level void/low rental yield, medium to high improvement/repair cost.

All new build or capital re-modelling is subject to detailed project financial appraisal. Once the outline
business case is approved, the development team, using procurement expertise, either through
framework agreements, procurement clubs or open tender, obtain the most economically advantageous
price.
The ROCE reflects changes in revenues following the rent cut, investment in new stock and some
restructuring costs, as well as impairment provisions on housing stock. Work to review the financial
performance of individual asset groups should result, over the medium term, in an improvement in this
measure. The performance of Sadeh Lok reflects improved underlying profitability following the merger
with Incommunities Group and the success of achieving the anticipated post-merger savings. However,
the reported ROCE also includes changes in revenue following the rent cut.
VFM Future Actions
The Group can evidence a series of initiatives to improve VFM within the business, which is reflected in
the cost per unit trends and the benchmark information. The key VFM achievement in 2018/19 was the
successful refinancing of the business. This significantly reduced the average cost of borrowing, reducing
the forecast annual interest cost by circa £4.5m. The benefits in terms of future investment and growth
combined with ‘Building Financial strength’ are as outlined in this report. Since then the Group has
progressed the decommissioning low demand high cost housing units in Manchester Road Bradford and
Crosley Wood, Bingley. New developments in digitalisation have resulted in a new dynamic repair
scheduling system and a new Customer Relationship Management system.
The adoption of new digital technology has enabled most back office functions to operate in, an agile,
remote manner and reduced the disruption to operations caused by ‘lockdown’ and ‘social distancing’.
As part of the objectives of the strategic plan ‘Improving Lives to 2040’ there are a number of initiatives
which will further increase efficiency and boost performance. These are contained within the VFM action
plan and are summarised as follows:


Developing an enhanced performance management framework to generate operating efficiencies in
front line and back office services.



Developing improvements to procurement services through centralisation of procurement and
adoption of best practice.



Continuing to improve void performance and void property turnaround time.



Continuing to improve rent collection and maintaining income levels as the percentage of customers
on Universal Credit increases.

It should be noted that throughout the Group, the returns generated are always used to reinvest in housing
and service improvements.
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APPROVAL
The Strategic Report was approved by the Board on 16 September 2020 and signed on its behalf by:

J Ormondroyd
Chair
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The Board of Directors (the ‘Board’) is pleased to present its report and audited financial statements for
the year ended 31 March 2020.
LEGAL STATUS
Incommunities Group Limited (the ‘Group Company’, or the ‘Parent Company’) is a company limited by
guarantee.
The Group Company’s registered office is The Quays, Victoria Street, Shipley, BD17 7BN.
GROUP STRUCTURE
At 31 March 2020, the Group Company’s subsidiaries are Incommunities Limited (‘Incommunities’),
Sadeh Lok Limited (‘Sadeh Lok’), BCHT Development Company Limited, Incommunities Treasury Plc
(the ‘Company’), Incommunities Commercial Limited, Lumia Homes Limited, Sadeh Lok Developments
Limited, SLG Corporate Limited, and The Eleanor Moorhouse Homes Trust.
Details of the Company’s subsidiary undertakings are set out in Note 15. to the financial statements.
The results of the above organisations are included in the Group Company’s consolidated financial
statements.
The Group Company also has an interest in Centre for Partnership LLP (the ‘Partnership’), which is
accounted for as a joint venture. Information on the Group Company’s investment in the Partnership is
set out in Note 16. to the financial statements.
The Group Company provides central and strategic services to its subsidiaries including; maintenance
and repairs, property development and regeneration, treasury and financial management, information
technology, legal services, human resources, performance monitoring and governance.
Incommunities Commercial Limited, Lumia Homes Limited, Sadeh Lok Developments Limited and SLG
Corporate Limited have been dormant throughout the year.
During the year, the Group Company formally wound-up three subsidiaries; Incommunities Foundation,
Up and Working Limited, and Access Matrix Limited.
PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES
Incommunities Group Limited and its subsidiaries (the ‘Group’) operate mainly in Bradford and
Huddersfield, and its principal activities are the management and development of social housing for rent,
and the regeneration of the communities in which they work.
RESULTS FOR THE YEAR
The Group’s and Group Company’s results for the year are set out in the Strategic Report and the
financial statements.
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GOING CONCERN
The Financial Reporting Council places great emphasis and a responsibility on the Board to consider the
going concern status of the organisation. The Group takes this responsibility seriously, and maintains
and regularly reviews a rolling 30-year Business Plan, which is stress-tested using multivariate sensitivity
analysis on the major underlying assumptions.
The Group’s budget and business plan for 2020/21 has been fully revised for the likely effects of the
Covid-19 pandemic. This has resulted in a reduction in the forecast surplus for the year of some £6.7m.
This is primarily as a result of additional provisions for voids and bad debts and the loss of income from
the sale of social housing properties. These effects are expected to quickly reverse, and by year three of
the business plan, the effects are expected to be negligible. The medium and long-term effects of the
pandemic are judged to be minimal.
The revised business plan was approved by the Board in May 2020. The plan confirms that the Group
has in place sufficient long-term loan facilities to provide adequate resources to finance its committed
reinvestment and development programmes, along with the Group’s day to day operations, and can
operate within its current loan facilities and within the financial covenants agreed with its funders. The
Group’s secured, undrawn bank facilities at the start of the business plan period total £54m. The Group
also has an unissued retained bond of £50m.
The revised business plan has been fully stress tested, with particular emphasis placed on examining
and evaluating the possible effects of the pandemic. This evaluation found that the plan is robust and
that the effects of the pandemic should not affect the Group’s ability to meet its obligations.
From an operational standpoint, the Group has arranged for its office based staff to work from home and
this is running smoothly. Post year-end, the Group has primarily concentrated on delivering emergency
repairs and carrying out void repairs. This involved furloughing some of the Group’s tradespeople. The
Group is now working towards reopening its offices and reinstituting its normal repairs service.
The Group remains fully aware of the potential effects of the Covid-19 pandemic on its business and
considers it has taken the necessary steps to deal with this and mitigate the impact. The Group
continues to monitor the pandemic closely and make appropriate plans and take appropriate actions.
The Group Company’s total comprehensive expense for the year of £8,160k (2019: income £2,282k)
represents the increase in the West Yorkshire Pension Fund defined benefit liability of £8,848k (2019:
reduction £1,991k), the mark up charged on services provided to its subsidiaries of £631k (2019: £648k),
the profit attributable to the joint venture of £23k (2019: loss £13k) and the tax credit of £34k (2019:
charge £344k). Its net current liabilities are £501k (2019: £1,509k) and its total net liabilities are
£35,180k (2019: £27,020k) at the year-end.
The Group Company is the participating body in the West Yorkshire Pension Fund. The fund’s defined
benefit pension scheme liability is £36,254k (2019 £27,406k) at the year-end. This liability is in excess of
total net liabilities and fluctuates in line with the latest actuarial valuation. Any long term funding deficit
on the scheme will ultimately be payable by the Group Company’s subsidiaries, for whom the staff
participating in the pension scheme work on a day-to-day basis.
On the basis of the above, the Board has a reasonable expectation that the Group and the Group
Company have adequate resources to continue in operation for the foreseeable future, being a period of
twelve months from the date on which the report and financial statements are signed. For this reason,
the Board continues to adopt the going concern basis in the financial statements.
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BOND ISSUE
On 21 March 2019, Incommunities Treasury Plc issued a 30-year £250m own name public issue dated
senior secured bond (the ‘Bond’) at a coupon rate of 3.25%. The initial offer to the market was for a
principal amount of £200m of bonds (the ‘Principal Amount’, the ‘Issued Bond’) with a principal amount of
£50m of bonds retained for later issue (the ‘Retained Bond’). The Issued Bond was priced at 99.184%
(the ‘Bond Issue Price’) equivalent to a Discount on Issue of £1,632k (0.816%). The net funds received
were £198.368m (£99.184 per £100 issued).
In arranging the Bond, the Company incurred Bond Issue Costs of £2.218m, which were paid directly
from the proceeds of the Bond, or by other Group entities on the Company’s behalf. These latter costs
were reimbursed by the Company through intercompany accounts.
The Discount on Issue and the Bond Issue Costs will be amortised over the term of the Bond. Interest is
payable by the Company to the bondholders at a rate of 3.25% on the Principal Amount.
The Bond is secured by way of fixed charges over the Group’s housing properties in favour of Prudential
Trustee Company Limited acting as Security Trustee.
The Principal Amount is due for repayment in March 2049.
Following the receipt of the Bond proceeds, these were on lent by the Company to Incommunities and
Sadeh Lok (the ‘Borrowers’) under formal Loan Agreements between the Company and the Borrowers.
Details of the bond issue and the on-lending are noted in the Strategic Report and Note 23. to the
financial statements. The related accounting policies are set out in Note 2. to the financial statements.
GOVERNANCE STRUCTURE
Over the last few years, the Group has undertaken and implemented the results of a comprehensive
Governance Review. Its aims were to simplify the Governance structures and processes, while
improving the quality of the corporate governance achieved. Advice and assistance was sought from
DTP Consulting, who worked alongside Board Members and executive officers to make and implement
recommendations. The main recommendations made following the Governance Review were:


the amalgamation of the boards of the Group Company, Incommunities and Sadeh Lok into a
Common Board with common membership;



the appointment of the Group Chief Executive to the Common Board as an executive member;



the removal of automatic Board membership for appointed Councillors and tenants; and



the adoption of a Strategy & Policy Approval Framework, and a Delegations Framework, to improve
the decision-making pathway.

These recommendations have been implemented where possible. The Boards of the Group Company,
the Association and Sadeh Lok now have a majority of members in common, the Group Chief Executive
has been appointed to the Board of the Group Company and as a co-optee member to the Board of
Sadeh Lok, automatic board membership for Councillors and tenants has been removed, and
appropriate frameworks have been developed and approved by the Board.
The Board has a formal schedule of matters which it considers and generally meets at least four times
each year during the normal course of business.
The work of the Board continues to be supplemented by a number of Group wide committees, including
an Audit and Risk Committee (the ‘ARC’).
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RETIREMENT OF GROUP CHIEF EXECUTIVE
On 6 July 2020, Geraldine Howley, Group Chief Executive announced her decision to retire at the end of
2020. Geraldine has been the Group Chief Executive from the formation of the Group in 2003. The
Board sincerely thanks Geraldine for all her hard work during her tenure as Group Chief Executive, and
would like to note the benefits her skills, knowledge, experience and unwavering enthusiasm have
brought to the Group over her time in office.
BOARD OF DIRECTORS, EXECUTIVE MANAGEMENT TEAM AND EMPLOYEES
The Directors and the members of the Executive Management Team who held office during the year and
from the year-end to the date of this report are set out on page 1.
At the year-end, the Board comprises of 10 members (2019: 10 members) and one co-optee member
(2019: one co-optee member). During the year, three Directors stepped down as members of the Board
after serving their permitted nine-year terms, and were replaced. The co-optee member also stepped
down during the year and was replaced. No changes in membership occurred between the year-end
and the date of this report. The Directors are drawn from a wide background bringing together
commercial, professional and local experience.
The Group Company is the participating body in the West Yorkshire Local Government Pension Fund
(the ‘Fund’). Certain members of the Executive Management Team and other members of staff who
work day-to-day in Incommunities are members of the Fund, and their associated employment and
pension costs are recharged by the Group Company to Incommunities in the form of a management
charge.
The Directors and the members of the Executive Management Team form the key management
personnel of the Group. The contracts of employment of the members of the Executive Management
Team and all other members of staff who work day-to-day in Incommunities are held by the Group
Company.
During the year, the Directors received total remuneration of £68,505 (2019: £66,744), and their
expenses amounted to £2,277 (2019: £637). These amounts exclude amounts paid to the Group Chief
Executive, who is a Director of the Board, and whose remuneration is included in the disclosures relating
to the members of the Executive Management Team.
Details relating to the employment of the members of the Executive Management Team and staff
members are set out in Notes 10. and 11. to the financial statements.
The Board would like to take this opportunity to thank all of the Group’s employees. The social housing
sector continues to undergo significant change and for the last few months our staff have had the added
pressure of dealing with the consequences of the Covid-19 pandemic. It is only with the support of our
dedicated staff that we are able to continue to provide quality services to our customers and continue to
thrive as an organisation.
CHANGE IN THE BASIS OF ACCOUNTING FOR THE SOCIAL HOUSING PENSION SCHEME
The Group also participates in the Social Housing Pension Scheme (SHPS, the ‘Scheme’), a defined
benefit multi-employer pension scheme with approximately 450 sponsoring employers, which includes
social landlords. The scheme is administered by TPT Retirement Solutions (formerly The Pensions
Trust) (‘TPT’). The Group’s participation in SHPS is through its subsidiary Sadeh Lok Limited.
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The Scheme is subject to the funding legislation outlined in the Pensions Act 2004, which came into
force on 30 December 2005. This, together with documents issued by the Pensions Regulator and
Technical Actuarial Standards issued by the Financial Reporting Council, set out the framework for
funding defined benefit occupational pension schemes in the UK.
Prior to 2019, it was not possible for the Group to obtain sufficient information to enable it to account for
the Scheme as a defined benefit (‘DB’) scheme. Consequently, in accordance with FRS 102 paragraphs
28.11 and 28.11A and Housing SORP paragraphs 15.9 to 15.12, the Group had previously accounted for
SHPS as a defined contribution (‘DC’) scheme, and recognised a liability for the present value of the
social landlord’s deficit funding agreement.
From 2019 onwards, following a number of changes made to systems and processes by TPT, they have
been able to provide sufficient information on each social landlord’s share of SHPS to allow for DB
accounting to be applied. This information was available for the year ending 31 March 2019, with an
accurate starting position at 31 March 2018. TPT does not have data to provide sufficient information
before 31 March 2018.
The financial effect of the change in the basis of accounting was to increase the pension provision at 1
April 2018 by £281k. This amount was charged to other comprehensive income in the Statement of
Comprehensive Income in 2019.
Other SHPS charges made during the year and changes to the amounts provided at the year-end are in
accordance with accounting for SHPS as a DB scheme. These amounts are set out in Note 33. to the
financial statements and included in the Statement of Comprehensive Income, and the Statement of
Financial Position.
DIRECTORS’ AND OFFICERS’ INSURANCE
The Group maintains Directors’ and Officers’ liability insurance for the directors and officers working
throughout the Group, and professional indemnity insurance for members of staff, as appropriate.
EMPLOYMENT OF DISABLED PERSONS
The Group offers an interview guarantee to both internal and external candidates who meet the essential
requirements of the person specification, and fully supports both the recruitment and promotion of people
with disabilities.
The Group has policies and procedures in place to support employees who suffer ill health or who have
disabilities and aims to offer medical redeployment and retraining where practicable. The overriding aim
is to find innovative solutions which enable people to remain in work whilst they are well enough to do so.
EMPLOYEE ENGAGEMENT
Corporate communication processes enable two way discussions on work objectives, organisational
teams and individual performance, and individual career aspirations and development opportunities. The
Group holds corporate consultation meetings on a 6-weekly cycle, and presents information on the
financial performance of the business and the wider political, economic and social context on a regular
basis via team briefings, blogs and newsletters.
COMPLIANCE WITH GOVERNANCE AND FINANCIAL VIABILITY STANDARD AND NHF CODE OF
GOVERNANCE
The Group adheres to the latest National Housing Federation ‘Excellence in Governance – code for
members and good practice guidelines – 2015’.
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The Regulator of Social Housing (the ’Regulator’) carried out an IDA (In Depth Assessment) of the Group
in January 2019. On 24 April 2019, the Regulator published its results of the assessment confirming that
the Group complied with the Governance & Financial Viability Standard, and had been awarded a
regulatory judgement for Governance of G1 and for Financial Viability of V1. This judgement was
reconfirmed in November 2019.
SUBSEQUENT EVENTS
The Group’s response to the Covid-19 pandemic and the announcement of the retirement of the Group
Chief Executive are noted as subsequent events. These events are covered in detail elsewhere in the
Directors’ Report and in the financial statements.
The Group has identified an issue regarding the lodging of the latest Rules of Incommunities Limited and
Sadeh Lok Limited with the Financial Conduct Authority. Action has been taken by the Board to
regularise the position including notification of key stakeholders and the Regulator of Social Housing.

ANNUAL GENERAL MEETING
The Annual General Meeting will take place on 17 September 2020.
DISCLOSURE OF INFORMATION TO THE AUDITOR
The Directors who were in office on the date of approval of these financial statements have confirmed,
as far as they are aware, that there is no relevant audit information of which the Auditor is unaware.
Each of the Directors has confirmed that they have taken all of the steps that they ought to have taken as
a director in order to make themselves aware of any relevant audit information, and to establish that it
has been communicated to the Auditor.
AUDITOR
During the year, the Group tendered its external audit function and appointed BDO LLP as the Group’s
and the Group Company’s statutory auditor (the ‘Auditor’) on 19 December 2019.
APPROVAL
The Directors’ Report was approved by the Board on 16 September 2020.
By order of the Board

S Sheikh
Secretary
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DIRECTORS’ RESPONSIBILITIES IN THE PREPARATION OF THE FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS
The Board of Directors is responsible for preparing the Strategic Report, the Directors’ Report, and the
financial statements in accordance with applicable law and regulations.
The Companies Act 2006 and social housing legislation requires the Board to prepare financial
statements for each financial year, which give a true and fair view of the state of affairs of the Group and
Group Company and of their total comprehensive income for that year. Under that law, the Board has
elected to prepare the financial statements in accordance with United Kingdom Generally Accepted
Accounting Practice (United Kingdom Accounting Standards and applicable law), including Financial
Reporting Standard 102 (FRS 102).
In preparing those financial statements, the Board is required to:


select suitable accounting policies and then apply them consistently;



make judgements and accounting estimates that are reasonable and prudent;



state whether applicable UK Accounting Standards have been followed, subject to any material
departures disclosed and explained in the financial statements; and



prepare the financial statements on a going concern basis unless it is inappropriate to presume that
the Group and Group Company will continue in business.

The Board is responsible for keeping adequate accounting records that are sufficient to show and
explain the Group’s and Group Company’s transactions, and disclose with reasonable accuracy at any
time the financial position of the Group and the Group Company, and enable them to ensure that the
financial statements comply with the Companies Act 2006, the Housing and Regeneration Act 2008, and
the Accounting Direction for Private Registered Providers of Social Housing 2019.
The Board is also responsible for instituting adequate systems of internal control, safeguarding the
assets of the Group and the Group Company, and hence for taking reasonable steps for the prevention
and detection of fraud and other irregularities.
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Opinion
We have audited the financial statements of Incommunities Group Limited (the ‘Parent Company’) and
its subsidiaries (the ‘Group’) for the year ended 31 March 2020, which comprise the Consolidated and
Company statement of comprehensive income, the Consolidated and Company statement of changes in
reserves, the Consolidated and Company statement of financial position, the Consolidated statement of
cash flows, and the notes to the financial statements, including a summary of significant accounting
policies. The financial reporting framework that has been applied in their preparation is applicable law
and United Kingdom Accounting Standards, including Financial Reporting Standard 102, the Financial
Reporting Standard applicable in the UK and Republic of Ireland (United Kingdom Generally Accepted
Accounting Practice).
In our opinion, the financial statements:


give a true and fair view of the state of the Group’s and of the Company’s affairs as at 31 March
2020 and of the Group’s surplus and the Company’s deficit for the year then ended;



have been properly prepared in accordance with United Kingdom Generally Accepted Accounting
Practice; and



have been properly prepared in accordance with the requirements of the Companies Act 2006, the
Housing and Regeneration Act 2008 and the Accounting Direction for Private Registered Providers
of Social Housing 2019.

Basis for opinion
We conducted our audit in accordance with International Standards on Auditing (UK) (“ISAs (UK)”) and
applicable law. Our responsibilities under those standards are further described in the Auditor’s
responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements section of our report. We are independent of the
Group and Company in accordance with the ethical requirements that are relevant to our audit of the
financial statements in the UK, including the FRC’s Ethical Standard, and we have fulfilled our other
ethical responsibilities in accordance with these requirements. We believe that the audit evidence we
have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.
Conclusions relating to going concern
We have nothing to report in respect of the following matters in relation to which the ISAs (UK) require us
to report to you where:


the Board’s use of the going concern basis of accounting in the preparation of the financial
statements is not appropriate; or



the Board members have not disclosed in the financial statements any identified material
uncertainties that may cast significant doubt about the Group’s or the Parent Company’s ability to
continue to adopt the going concern basis of accounting for a period of at least twelve months from
the date when the financial statements are authorised for issue.

Key audit matters
Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgment, were of most significance in our
audit of the financial statements of the current period and include the most significant assessed risks of
material misstatement (whether or not due to fraud) we identified, including those which had the greatest
effect on: the overall audit strategy, the allocation of resources in the audit; and directing the efforts of
the engagement team. These matters were addressed in the context of our audit of the financial
statements as a whole, and in forming our opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate opinion on
these matters.
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Key Audit Matter

How we addressed the Key Audit Matter in the Audit

Going concern considerations
relating to Coronavirus

Our audit response involved the following:

As disclosed in note 1, as at the
reporting date, the potential
impact of Coronavirus became
significant. The outbreak is
causing one of the most
profound and significant
changes to the way people
around the world live and work.
Management (including the
Board and Audit and Risk
Committee) invested a
significant amount of time to
fully consider the implications on
the Incommunities Group.
Management considered
implications for the Group’s
going concern assessment
which involves a number of
subjective judgements including
rent collection, property sales,
maintenance spend and
appropriate disclosure in the
Annual Report and accounts, by
developing stress test scenarios
to model potential impacts and
mitigating actions to ensure the
group has a robust action plan.
We have therefore spent
significant audit effort in
assessing the appropriateness
of the assumptions involved,
and as such, this has been
identified as a Key Audit Matter.



Assessment of the internal forecasting process to confirm the
projections are prepared by appropriate personnel who are
aware of the detailed figures in the forecast but also have a
high level understanding of the entity’s market, strategy and
profile in the customer base, and the potential impact that
COVID-19 might have on these projections.



Obtaining and assessing the availability of financing facilities,
including the nature of facilities, repayment terms and financial
covenants. We considered management’s financial covenant
compliance calculations through to September 2021 and
concluded on the consistency of such calculations with the
ratios stated in the relevant lender agreements.



Consideration of the forecasts prepared by management and
challenge of the key assumptions based on our knowledge of
the business. As referred to in basis of preparation note,
management have modelled reasonably possible downside
scenarios to incorporate the expected impact of the COVID-19
pandemic. We have considered the appropriateness of the
downside scenarios in respect of the impact of COVID-19 and
challenged management to confirm that they have suitably
addressed the inputs, which are most susceptible to change,
including those in respect of revenue, margins and cost
savings.



We challenged management’s assessment of reasonably
possible scenarios on the impact of trading against actual
trading results subsequent to the Government’s lockdown
instruction.



We challenged management on the suitability of the mitigating
actions identified in their assessment and the quantum and
period ascribed to these mitigating actions. Scenarios modelled
by management include a reverse stress test to analyse the
current estimates of rent collection, property sales and
maintenance and development spend that could be sustained
without breaching banking covenants. We challenged the
assumptions used and mitigating actions included within this
scenario and reviewed the reverse stress test calculations.



We considered the adequacy of the disclosures in the financial
statements against the requirements of the accounting
standards and consistency of the disclosure against the
forecasts and stress test scenario.

Key observations:


Our key observations are set out in the conclusions related to
going concern section of our audit report.
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Our application of materiality
We apply the concept of materiality both in planning and performing our audit, and in evaluating the
effect of misstatements. We consider materiality to be the magnitude by which misstatements,
individually or in the aggregate, could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of the
users of the financial statements. Importantly, misstatements below these levels will not necessarily be
evaluated as immaterial as we also take into account of the nature of identified misstatements, and the
particular circumstances of their occurrence, when evaluating their effect on the financial statements as a
whole.
Based on our professional judgement, we determined materiality for the financial statements as a whole
as follows:
Group materiality
Basis for materiality
Specific materiality
Basis for materiality
Rationale for benchmark
adopted

£4,631,000
1% total assets
£1,599,000
5% of adjusted operating profit (adjustments for depreciation, impairment,
open market sales and gift aid receipts/payments)
Total assets is the primary measure used in assessing the performance of
the Group, as this is considered to be the areas of the financial statements
of greatest interest to the principal users of the financial statements and the
areas which will have greatest impact on investor and lender decisions.

In considering individual account balances and classes of transactions we apply a lower level
materiality in order to reduce to an appropriately low level the probability that the aggregate
uncorrected and undetected misstatements exceeds materiality. Performance materiality was set
£2,779,000, representing 60% of materiality. 60% was chosen to reflect the aggregation risk
uncorrected misstatements.

of
of
at
of

Our audit work on each significant component was executed at levels of materiality applicable to each
individual entity which was lower than group materiality. Component materiality ranged from £141,000 to
£1,843,000. Parent Company materiality was £483,000.
We agreed with the audit committee that we would report to the committee all individual audit differences
identified during the course of our audit in excess of £47,000. We also agreed to report differences below
these thresholds that, in our view, warranted reporting on qualitative grounds.
An overview of the scope of our audit
We tailored the scope of our audit to ensure that we performed enough work to be able to give an
opinion on the financial statements as a whole, taking into account the geographic structure of the
Group, the accounting processes and controls and the industry in which the Group operates.
In establishing the overall approach to the Group audit, we assessed the audit significance of each
reporting component in the Group by reference to both its financial significance and other indicators of
audit risk, such as the complexity of operations and the degree of estimation and judgement in the
financial results
Extent to which the audit is capable of detecting irregularities
The extent to which the audit is capable of detecting irregularities is affected by the inherent difficulty in
detecting irregularities, the effectiveness of the entity’s controls, and the nature, timing and extent of the
audit procedures performed. Irregularities that result from fraud might be inherently more difficult to
detect than irregularities that result from error.
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As part of the audit we gained an understanding of the legal and regulatory framework applicable to the
Group and the industry in which it operates, and considered the risk of acts by the Group that were
contrary to applicable laws and regulations, including fraud. We considered the Association’s compliance
with laws and regulations that have a direct impact on the financial statements such as the Companies
Act 2006, the Housing and Regeneration Act 2008 and other laws and regulations application to a
registered social housing provider in England. We also considered the risks of non-compliance with the
other requirements imposed by the Regulator of Social Housing, and we considered the extent to which
non-compliance might have a material effect on the group financial statements.
We designed audit procedures at Group and significant component level to respond to the risk,
recognising that the risk of not detecting a material misstatement due to fraud is higher than the risk of
not detecting one resulting from error, as fraud may involve deliberate concealment by, for example,
forgery or intentional misrepresentations, or through collusion. Our tests included agreeing the financial
statement disclosures to underlying supporting documentation, enquiries of the Board and of
management and enquiries of third parties, where information from that third party has been used by the
Association in the preparation of the financial statements.
There are inherent limitations in the audit procedures described above and, the further removed noncompliance with laws and regulations is from the events and transactions reflected in the financial
statements, the less likely we would become aware of it. We did not identify any key audit matters
relating to irregularities, including fraud. As in all of our audits, we also addressed the risk of
management override of internal controls, including testing journals and evaluating whether there was
evidence of bias by the Board that represented a risk of material misstatement due to fraud.
Classification of components
Our Group audit was scoped by obtaining an understanding of the Group and its environment, including
Group-wide controls, and assessing the risks of material misstatement at the Group level.
The Group manages its operations from one principal location in the UK. The audit of all significant
components was performed by the same audit team.
In assessing the risk of material misstatement to the Group financial statements, and to ensure we had
adequate quantitative coverage of significant accounts in the financial statements, of the 5 components
of the Group, we determined that 3 components represented the principal business units within the
Group.
For these 3 significant components, we performed a full scope audit of the complete financial
information. For the remaining components, audit work was performed for statutory purposes and
covered specific accounts within that component that we considered had the potential for the greatest
impact on the significant accounts in the financial statements, either because of the size of these
accounts or their risk profile.
As a consequence of the audit scope determined, we achieved coverage of approximately 99% of
revenue, 98% of surplus before tax and 99% of total assets. Our audit work on each component was
executed at levels of materiality applicable to each individual entity which was lower than Group
materiality.
Other information
The Board are responsible for the other information. Other information comprises the information
included in the annual report, other than the financial statements and our auditor’s report thereon. Our
opinion on the financial statements does not cover the other information we do not express any form of
assurance conclusion thereon.
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In connection with our audit of the financial statements, our responsibility is to read the other information
including the Strategic Report, Directors Report and Internal Controls, in doing so, consider whether the
other information is materially inconsistent with the financial statements or our knowledge obtained in the
audit or otherwise appears to be materially misstated. If we identify such material inconsistencies or
apparent material misstatements, we are required to determine whether there is a material misstatement
in the financial statements or a material misstatement of the other information. If, based on the work we
have performed, we conclude that there is a material misstatement of this other information we are
required to report that fact.
We have nothing to report in this regard.
Opinions on other matters prescribed by the Companies Act 2006
In our opinion, based on the work undertaken in the course of the audit:


the information given in the Strategic Report for the financial year for which the financial statements
are prepared is consistent with the financial statements; and



the Strategic Report has been prepared in accordance with applicable legal requirements.

Matters on which we are required to report by exception
In the light of the knowledge and understanding of the Group and the Parent Company and its
environment obtained in the course of the audit, we have not identified material misstatements in the
Strategic report and Directors’ Report.
We have nothing to report in respect of the following matters in relation to which the Companies Act 2006
requires us to report to you if, in our opinion;


adequate accounting records have not been kept by the Parent Company, or returns adequate for
our audit have not been received from branches not visited by us; or



the Parent Company’s financial statements are not in agreement with the accounting records and
returns; or



certain disclosures of Board member and or directors’ remuneration specified by law are not made;
or



we have not received all the information and explanations we require for our audit.

Responsibilities of the Board
As explained more fully in the Board members responsibilities statement set out on page 40, the Board is
responsible for the preparation of the financial statements and for being satisfied that they give a true
and fair view, and for such internal control as the Board members determine is necessary to enable the
preparation of financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or
error.
In preparing the financial statements, the Board are responsible for assessing the Group’s and the
Parent Company’s ability to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to
going concern and using the going concern basis of accounting unless the Board either intend to
liquidate the Group or the Parent Company or to cease operations, or have no realistic alternative but to
do so.
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Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements
Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements as a whole
are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report that
includes our opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an
audit conducted in accordance with ISAs (UK) will always detect a material misstatement when it exists.
Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or in the
aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on the
basis of these financial statements.
A further description of our responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements is located on the
Financial Reporting Council’s website at: www.frc.org.uk/auditorsresponsibilities. This description forms
part of our auditor’s report.
Use of our report
This report is made solely to the members of the Company, as a body, in accordance with in accordance
with the Housing and Regeneration Act 2008 and Chapter 3 of Part 16 of the Companies Act 2006. Our
audit work has been undertaken so that we might state to the Company’s members those matters we are
required to state to them in an auditor’s report and for no other purpose. To the fullest extent permitted
by law, we do not accept or assume responsibility to anyone other than the Company and the members
as a body, for our audit work, for this report, or for the opinions we have formed.

Hamid Ghafoor (Senior Statutory Auditor)
For and on behalf of BDO LLP, Statutory Auditor
Chartered Accountants
3 Hardman Street
Spinningfields
Manchester
M3 3AT
Date:
BDO LLP is a limited liability partnership registered in England and Wales (with registered number
OC305127).
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Notes

2020
£’000

2019
£’000

Turnover

3

101,351

98,390

Cost of sales
Operating costs:
Operating expenditure
Gain on sale and disposal of housing properties and other fixed
assets

3

(2,897)

(594)

3

(78,860)

(84,715)

3, 5

6,391

3,651

OPERATING SURPLUS

3

25,985

16,732

Profit / (loss) attributable to joint venture
Interest receivable and other income
Interest payable and financing costs
Refinancing costs

16
7
8
9

23
27
(11,684)
-

(13)
37
(16,247)
(24,846)

14,351

(24,337)

1

(365)

14,352

(24,702)

(3,283)

(281)
9,295

11,069

(15,688)

SURPLUS / (DEFICIT) BEFORE TAX
Taxation

12

SURPLUS / (DEFICIT) FOR THE YEAR
Initial recognition of SHPS defined benefit pension scheme
Actuarial (loss) / gain in respect of pension schemes

27

TOTAL COMPREHENSIVE INCOME / (EXPENSE) FOR THE
YEAR

The Group’s results relate wholly to continuing activities.
The accompanying notes form part of these financial statements.
The financial statements were authorised and approved by the Board on 16 September 2020.

J Ormondroyd
Chair

A Kitchingman
Board Member

S Sheikh
Secretary
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Notes

2020
£’000

2019
£’000

Turnover

3

48,378

47,801

Operating costs:
Operating expenditure

3

(52,413)

(53,707)

OPERATING DEFICIT

3

(4,035)

(5,906)

Profit / (loss) attributable to joint venture
Interest payable and financing costs

16
8

23
(637)

(13)
(719)

(4,649)

(6,638)

34

(344)

(4,615)

(6,982)

(3,545)

9,264

(8,160)

2,282

DEFICIT BEFORE TAX
Taxation

12

DEFICIT FOR THE YEAR
Actuarial (loss) / gain in respect of pension scheme

27

TOTAL COMPREHENSIVE (EXPENSE) / INCOME FOR THE
YEAR

The Group Company’s results relate wholly to continuing activities.
The accompanying notes form part of these financial statements.
The financial statements were authorised and approved by the Board on 16 September 2020.

J Ormondroyd
Chair

A Kitchingman
Board Member

S Sheikh
Secretary
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Income and
expenditure
reserve

£’000
Balance at 1 April 2018
Total comprehensive expense for the year:
Deficit for the year
Other comprehensive income for the year:
Initial recognition of SHPS defined benefit pension scheme
Actuarial gain in respect of pension schemes

44,466
(24,702)
(281)
9,295

Balance at 31 March 2019
Total comprehensive income for the year:
Surplus for the year
Other comprehensive expense for the year:
Actuarial loss in respect of pension schemes

28,778

Balance at 31 March 2020

39,847

14,352
(3,283)

The income and expenditure reserve represents the cumulative income and expenditure net of any
distributions.
The accompanying notes form part of these financial statements.
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For the year ended 31 March 2020
Income and
expenditure
reserve

£’000
Balance at 1 April 2018
Total comprehensive income for the year:
Deficit for the year
Other comprehensive income for the year
Actuarial gain in respect of pension scheme

(29,302)

Balance at 31 March 2019
Total comprehensive expense for the year:
Deficit for the year
Other comprehensive expense for the year
Actuarial loss in respect of pension scheme

(27,020)

Balance at 31 March 2020

(35,180)

(6,982)
9,264

(4,615)
(3,545)

The income and expenditure reserve represents the cumulative income and expenditure net of any
distributions.
The accompanying notes form part of these financial statements.
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION
At 31 March 2020
2020
£’000

2019
£’000

433,035
6,963
44
30

430,404
7,508
117
30

440,072

438,059

741
7,638
13,903

1,378
733
4,143
11,500

22,282

17,754

(12,861)

(20,256)

9,421

(2,502)

449,493

435,557

22

(372,760)

(378,390)

27
27

(36,886)
-

(28,389)
-

TOTAL NET ASSETS

39,847

28,778

RESERVES
Income and expenditure reserve

39,847

28,778

TOTAL RESERVES

39,847

28,778

Notes
FIXED ASSETS
Tangible fixed assets - housing properties
Other tangible fixed assets
Investment in joint venture
Investment

13
14
16
17

CURRENT ASSETS
Properties held for sale
Stock
Trade and other debtors
Cash and cash equivalents

18
19
20
29

CURRENT LIABILITIES
Creditors: Amounts falling due within one year

21

NET CURRENT ASSETS / (LIABILITIES)

TOTAL ASSETS LESS CURRENT LIABILITIES
Creditors: Amounts falling due after more than one year
Provisions for liabilities:
Pension schemes - defined benefit liability
Other provision - replacement of housing property scheme

The accompanying notes form part of these financial statements.
The financial statements were authorised for issue and approved by the Board on 16 September 2020.

J Ormondroyd
Chair

A Kitchingman
Board Member

S Sheikh
Secretary

Company Registration Number 04221767
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COMPANY STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION
At 31 March 2020

Notes

2020
£’000

2019
£’000

14
15
16

1,476
55
44

1,723
55
117

1,575

1,895

2,700
3,455

733
1,509
2,237

6,155

4,479

(6,656)

(5,988)

(501)

(1,509)

1,074

386

(36,254)

(27,406)

TOTAL NET LIABILITIES

(35,180)

(27,020)

RESERVES
Income and expenditure reserve

(35,180)

(27,020)

TOTAL RESERVES

(35,180)

(27,020)

FIXED ASSETS
Other tangible fixed assets
Investment in subsidiaries
Investment in joint venture

CURRENT ASSETS
Stock
Trade and other debtors
Cash and cash equivalents

19
20

CURRENT LIABILITIES
Creditors: Amounts falling due within one year

21

NET CURRENT LIABILITIES

TOTAL ASSETS LESS CURRENT LIABILITIES
Provisions for liabilities:
Pension scheme - defined benefit liability

27

The accompanying notes form part of these financial statements.
The financial statements were authorised for issue and approved by the Board on 16 September 2020.

J Ormondroyd
Chair

A Kitchingman
Board Member

S Sheikh
Secretary

Company Registration Number 04221767
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
For the year ended 31 March 2020

Notes

2020
£’000

2019
£’000

29

30,268

47,409

(20,278)
(297)
96
8,054
294
27

(29,734)
(1,059)
(30)
5,950
4,327
37

NET CASH USED IN INVESTING ACTIVITIES

(12,104)

(20,509)

CASH FLOW FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES
Interest paid
Refinancing costs
Repayments of bank and other borrowings
Loan issue costs
Proceeds of bond issue

(11,650)
(3,936)
(175)
-

(17,281)
(29,536)
(180,744)
196,154

(15,761)

(31,407)

2,403

(4,507)

11,500

16,007

13,903

11,500

NET CASH GENERATED FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES
CASH FLOW FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES
Additions to housing properties
Purchase of other tangible fixed assets
Investments
Sales of housing properties and other fixed assets
Grants received
Interest received

14

26
7

9

NET CASH USED IN FINANCING ACTIVITIES
NET INCREASE / (DECREASE) IN CASH AND CASH
EQUIVALENTS
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT BEGINNING OF YEAR

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT END OF YEAR

29
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For the year ended 31 March 2020
1.

LEGAL STATUS
Incommunities Group Limited is incorporated in England and is a private limited company limited
by guarantee.
The Group Company’s registered office is The Quays, Victoria Street, Shipley, BD17 7BN.

2.

ACCOUNTING POLICIES
BASIS OF ACCOUNTING
The financial statements of the Group are prepared in accordance with applicable law and UK
Generally Accepted Accounting Principles (UK GAAP), including Financial Reporting Standard 102
(FRS 102), and the Housing SORP 2018: Statement of Recommended Practice for Social Housing
Providers (SORP 2018), and comply with the Housing and Regeneration Act 2008 and the
Accounting Direction for Private Registered Providers of Social Housing 2019.
The financial statements are prepared under the historical cost convention and are presented in
Sterling (£) rounded to the nearest whole £1,000, except where otherwise indicated.
All of the entities in the Group have co-terminus year-ends.
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
The consolidated financial statements include the results of the Group Company’s subsidiaries;
Incommunities Limited, Sadeh Lok Limited, BCHT Development Company Limited, Incommunities
Treasury Plc, Incommunities Commercial Limited, Lumia Homes Limited, Sadeh Lok
Developments Limited, SLG Corporate Limited and The Eleanor Moorhouse Homes Trust.
All of the above subsidiaries are either wholly owned or fully controlled by the Group Company.
The consolidated financial statements are prepared on the basis that all of the income and
expenditure, and assets and liabilities of the Group Company and its subsidiaries are added
together and adjusted to remove all intercompany transactions and balances, including the netting
off of investment in subsidiaries in the Group Company’s financial statements against the
corresponding share capital in the subsidiaries’ financial statements.
The consolidated financial statements also include certain fair value adjustments relating to the
acquisition of Sadeh Lok Limited in 2016.
The Group Company also has an interest in Centre for Partnership LLP, which is accounted for as
a joint venture. Information on the Group Company’s investment in the Partnership is set out in
Note 16.
GOING CONCERN
The Financial Reporting Council places great emphasis and a responsibility on the Board to
consider the going concern status of the organisation. The Group takes this responsibility
seriously, and maintains and regularly reviews a rolling 30-year Business Plan, which is stresstested using multivariate sensitivity analysis on the major underlying assumptions.
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The Group’s budget and business plan for 2020/21 has been fully revised for the likely effects of
the Covid-19 pandemic. This has resulted in a reduction in the forecast surplus for the year of
some £6.7m. This is primarily as a result of additional provisions for voids and bad debts and the
loss of income from the sale of social housing properties. These effects are expected to quickly
reverse, and by year three of the business plan, the effects are expected to be negligible. The
medium and long-term effects of the pandemic are judged to be minimal.
The revised business plan was approved by the Board in May 2020. This confirms that the Group
has in place sufficient long-term loan facilities to provide adequate resources to finance its
committed reinvestment and development programmes, along with the Group’s day to day
operations, and can operate within its current loan facilities and within the financial covenants
agreed with its funders. The Group’s secured, undrawn bank facilities at the start of the business
plan period total £54m. The Group also has an unissued retained bond of £50m.
The revised business plan has been fully stress tested, with particular emphasis placed on
examining and evaluating the possible effects of the pandemic. This evaluation found that the plan
is robust and that the effects of the pandemic should not affect the Group’s ability to meet its
obligations.
From an operational standpoint, the Group has arranged for its office based staff to work from
home and this is running smoothly. Post year-end, the Group has primarily concentrated on
delivering emergency repairs and carrying out void repairs. This involved furloughing some of the
Group’s tradespeople. The Group is now working towards reopening its offices and reinstituting its
normal repairs service.
The Group remains fully aware of the potential effects of the Covid-19 pandemic on its business
and considers it has taken the necessary steps to deal with this and mitigate the impact. The
Group continues to monitor the pandemic closely and make appropriate plans and take
appropriate actions.
The Group Company’s total comprehensive expense for the year of £8,160k (2019: income
£2,282k) represents the increase in the West Yorkshire Pension Fund defined benefit liability of
£8,848k (2019: reduction £1,991k), the mark up charged on services provided to its subsidiaries of
£631k (2019: £648k), the profit attributable to the joint venture of £23k (2019: loss £13k) and the
tax credit of £34k (2019: charge £344k). Its net current liabilities are £501k (2019: £1,509k) and its
total net liabilities are £35,180k (2019: £27,020k) at the year-end.
The Group Company is the participating body in the West Yorkshire Pension Fund. The fund’s
defined benefit pension scheme liability is £36,254k (2019 £27,406k) at the year-end. This liability
is in excess of total net liabilities and fluctuates in line with the latest actuarial valuation. Any long
term funding deficit on the scheme will ultimately be payable by the Group Company’s
subsidiaries, for whom the staff participating in the pension scheme work on a day-to-day basis.
On the basis of the above, the Board has a reasonable expectation that the Group and the Group
Company have adequate resources to continue in operation for the foreseeable future, being a
period of twelve months from the date on which the report and financial statements are signed.
For this reason, the Board continues to adopt the going concern basis in the financial statements.
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DISCLOSURE REQUIREMENTS
Statement of Cash Flows
Under FRS 102 – Section 7, the Group Company is exempt from the requirement to include a
Statement of Cash Flows within its financial statements on the grounds that the ultimate parent
undertaking includes the results of the Group Company in its publicly available report and
consolidated financial statements. The Group Company has taken advantage of this exemption.
Related Party Transactions
Under FRS 102 – Section 33, the Group is exempt from the requirement to disclose transactions
between the Group Company and its subsidiaries, and between fellow subsidiaries. This
exemption is subject to The Accounting Direction for registered providers of social housing 2019
(the ‘Direction’), which requires that where a private registered provider of social housing (‘PRP’)
transacts with an associate, subsidiary or other Group member which is not a PRP, or is an
unregistered entity, their financial statements shall include intercompany information as set out in
the Direction. The Group has taken advantage of this exemption, subject to the requirements of
the Direction.
SIGNIFICANT JUDGEMENTS AND ESTIMATES
Preparation of the financial statements requires management to make significant judgements and
estimates. The items in the financial statements where these judgements and estimates have
been made include:
Significant Management Judgements
The following are the significant management judgements made in applying the accounting
policies of the Group that have the most significant effect on the financial statements:
Identification of Components of Housing Stock
The Group has carefully considered and identified the most appropriate suite of major components
which comprise its housing properties for use in calculating the charge made for housing property
depreciation.
Impairment
From 1 April 2016, the Group has reduced social housing rents by 1% per annum, and has
continued to do so in each successive financial year including the current year in accordance with
the Housing and Planning Act 2016. Despite cost efficiency savings and other changes to the
business, compliance with the new rent regime has resulted, and will continue to result, in a loss of
net income on certain social housing schemes. This is considered to be a significant factor in the
potential for impairment of the Group’s social housing stock.
The Group considers individual social housing schemes to be separate cash generating units
when assessing for impairment, in accordance with the requirements of FRS 102 and SORP 2018.
The Group carries out an annual review for impairment on its social housing stock and office
accommodation. Part of this review considers the potential impacts of changes in the internal
operating environment and changes in the external environment that could have implications for
the valuation of the housing stock and other principal assets. This year, the potential impact of
Covid-19 has been a key consideration. Based on this review, it has been concluded that no
additional impairment is required.
Where impairment is found, it is accounted for as a deduction from the relevant fixed asset and a
charge in the Statement of Comprehensive Income. Where there is a requirement for a previous
impairment to be reversed, it is accounted for as an addition to the relevant fixed asset and a credit
in the Statement of Comprehensive Income.
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During the last four years, the Group has provided for an impairment of £14,037k on its housing
properties in connection with the demolition and redevelopment of 11 tower blocks. Although this
work is ongoing, based on the work carried out to date, the Group has recognised a credit in
respect of a previous over-impairment of £649k (2019: charge £1,500k) on housing properties
during the year.
Supporting People
Management judgement is applied in determining the extent to which the risks and benefits are
transferred to the Group when considering the income to be generated from this activity. During
the year, £781k (2019: £751k) of supporting people contract income has been recognised in the
Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Income.
Provision for Bad and Doubtful Debts
The basis used for determining the provision for bad and doubtful debts for rent and service
charges is regularly assessed by management in relation to outturn. During the year,
management carried out a review of the basis used for determining this provision and changed it
from one based on the value of arrears to one based on the age of arrears. This is set out in the
Group’s bad debt provisioning policy, which provides for a set percentage of the arrears based on
the overall aged of the debt.
Management considers that this method will produce a more
accurate charge for bad debts in the financial statements.
The provision for bad and doubtful debts excludes amounts previously provided for former tenants
as these have been written out of both the provision and the arrears at the year-end on the basis
that they are not considered to be recoverable. These amounts were included in both the
provision and the arears at the prior year-end. At the year-end, an additional amount of £770k has
been provided to cover the potential increase in bad debts resulting from the continuing effects of
Universal Credit and the effects of the Covid-19 pandemic.
The overall effect of the changes noted above in comparison with what these amounts would have
been under the prior year’s approach, is a net reduction in the year-end provision for bad and
doubtful debts of £6,649k, and a reduction in the charge for bad debts for the year of £2,799k.
Retirement Benefits
The Group undertook the early adoption of the requirements of the amendments to FRS102 “MultiEmployer Defined Benefit Plans” in full with respect to the change in the basis of accounting for
SHPS from defined contribution to defined benefit. The details of the Group’s accounting policy
are set out below and the financial effects of the changes are set out in Notes 27. and 33., the
Statement of Comprehensive Income and the Statement of Financial Position.
Significant Management Estimates
The following are the areas where management estimates and assumptions have the most
significant effect on the recognition and measurement of income and expenditure, and assets and
liabilities. The actual results may be substantially different:
Useful Lives of Depreciable Assets
Management reviews its estimate of the useful lives of depreciable assets and the components
that make up the housing properties at each reporting date based on the expected utility of the
assets. Uncertainty in these estimates relate, for example, to changes in customer expectations,
changes in decent homes standards, and wear and tear in relation to social housing properties,
and to technological obsolescence in relation to information technology software and hardware.
At 31 March 2020, the total accumulated depreciation and impairment on tangible fixed assets is
£192,336k (2019: £176,079k).
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Fair Value Adjustments on Consolidation
At 31 March 2020, the Group accounts include a fair value adjustment on consolidation totalling
£2,579k (2019: £2,482k). This represents fair value adjustments made on the acquisition of Sadeh
Lok in 2016. This amount is made up of a fair value credit to the carrying cost of housing
properties of £4,072k (2019: £4,137k) and a fair value debit to loans of £1,493k (2019: £1,656k).
These amounts are amortised over the expected life of the related housing properties and the time
to maturity of the related fixed rate hedges.
Investment
The Group, through its subsidiary Incommunities Limited (‘Incommunities’), holds 40,000 shares of
nominal value £0.10 each in MORHomes Plc, a company formed to provide capital markets
funding to the social housing sector. The shares were subscribed for in 2019 at a nominal value of
£4k, with a premium on issue of £26k, resulting in a total investment of £30k. Incommunities is
one of the original 33 sponsoring companies and a ‘founder shareholder’.
The Group has been advised by MORHomes Plc that its shares are not publicly traded and
therefore the fair value cannot be measured reliably. MORHomes Plc has provided a copy of its
latest financial statements and advised that its business plan shows they expect to make profits
and pay dividends in due course, and that they are very much a going concern. Based on the
advice, information and assurances provided by MORHomes Plc, the Group has determined to
include the investment in its statement of financial position at cost. This is in line with the prior
year.
Provision for Bad and Doubtful Debts and Charge for Bad Debts
At 31 March 2020, the provision for bad and doubtful debts is £2,397k (2019: £8,296k), and the
credit for bad debts for the year is £928k (2019: charge £2,262k). The credit for bad debts for the
year results from the changes made in the basis for calculating the provision for bad and doubtful
debts, as noted above.
Retirement Benefits
The Group’s pension contributions and defined benefit liability for WYPF and SHPS are calculated
in accordance with certain pension and actuarial assumptions made by the Fund’s and the
Scheme’s managers and actuaries. These assumptions have been reviewed and accepted by
management as reasonable. The key assumptions are set out in Note 33.
Pension Scheme Valuation Assumptions
Financial Assumptions
The financial assumptions used in the West Yorkshire Pension Fund actuarial statement have
been reviewed in consultation with independent pension advisors and amended to reflect the
operations of the Group, particularly in relation to future expected wage growth. These
assumptions are set out in Note 33.
Demographic Assumptions
The mortality assumptions are made in line with recent mortality experience of members within the
Fund and allow for expected future mortality improvements.
TURNOVER AND REVENUE RECOGNITION
The Group’s turnover is comprised of social housing and other rental income and service charges
receivable in the year net of voids, grants receivable and grants amortised, sales and disposals of
existing social housing properties, income from first tranche shared ownership sales, charges for
support services, sales of properties built for sale, income from accommodation manged for
others, and sundry income from other sources at the invoiced value (excluding VAT).
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Rents on existing social housing properties are charged in accordance with regulatory
requirements. Rents and service charges receivable are recognised from the point when
properties under development reach practical completion or otherwise become available for letting.
Rents on new social housing properties are charged at rates that are dependent on the type and
size of the property. The Group reviews the cost of delivering services to its customers on an
annual basis and sets its service charges receivable based on these costs.
Revenue grants are receivable at approved rates when the conditions for receipt of agreed grant
funding have been met.
Income from first tranche shared ownership property sales is recognised at the point of legal
completion of the sale. Sales prices are set at market value.
Charges for support services funding under Supporting People are recognised as they fall due
under the contractual arrangements with Administering Authorities.
Existing social housing properties are sold under the statutory regulations of ‘Preserved Right to
Buy’ and ‘Right to Acquire’, and also disposed of as part of the management of the property
portfolio. The resulting sales proceeds and cost of sales are recognised on completion of the
sales contract.
The gains and losses on housing property sales and disposals have been recognised as part of
operating surplus for the first time during this current financial year in line with regulatory
requirements. Prior to this financial year, gains and losses on these types of property sales and
disposals were included in the Statement of Comprehensive Income below the operating surplus
line. The comparatives for 2019 have been amended to reflect this change in treatment.
Income from the sale of properties built for sale is recognised at the point of legal completion of the
sale. Sales prices are set at market value.
Income from accommodation manged for others is recognised during the period to which it relates,
and is charged at an agreed rate per property.
The Group Company’s turnover is comprised of the recharge of all costs relating to the in-house
repairs service, housing management staff costs, property development staff costs and
administrative staff and office costs to its subsidiaries. The recharge of administrative staff and
office costs includes a transfer pricing uplift of 5%. Group company turnover also includes sundry
income for activities such as community projects for the local authority, receipts from the staff
restaurant, and the provision of housing repairs and other services to other social housing and
similar organisations.
LOAN DISCOUNT ON ISSUE AND ISSUE COSTS
Loan Discount on Issue
Management has considered how loan discount on issue should be dealt with in the financial
statements and determined that these should be written off over the life of the respective financial
instruments using the effective interest rate method.
Loan Issue Costs
Management has considered how loan issue costs should be dealt with in the financial statements
and determined that these should be written off over the life of the respective financial instruments
in equal annual instalments.
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INTEREST RECEIVABLE AND PAYABLE
Interest receivable and payable are recognised on an accruals basis in the Statement of
Comprehensive Income.
PENSION SCHEMES
The Group participates in two pension schemes, the West Yorkshire Pension Fund (WYPF, the
‘Fund’) and the Social Housing Pension Scheme (SHPS, the ‘Scheme’), both of which are multiemployer defined benefit schemes. The Group’s participation in WYPF is through the Group
Company and in SHPS through its subsidiary Sadeh Lok Limited.
Contributions to the pension schemes are based on a percentage of pensionable salaries of
employees and are determined by independent actuaries. The annual income and expenditure
recognised in the Statement of Comprehensive Income represents current and past service
contributions payable by the participating body and any interest or expenses due during the
financial year.
The participating body’s share of the pension schemes’ net assets or liabilities are assessed on an
annual basis by independent actuaries and are recognised in the Statement of Financial Position.
The change in net assets or liabilities from one year to the next is recognised as other
comprehensive income in the Statement of Comprehensive Income.
As noted in the Directors’ Report, the accounting for SHPS was changed in 2019. The accounting
policy relating to this change is set out separately below.
Details of the pension schemes are set out in Note 33.
TAXATION
Current tax is recognised for the amount of income tax payable in respect of the taxable surplus for
the current or past reporting periods using the tax rates and laws that have been enacted or
substantively been enacted at the reporting date.
DEFERRED TAXATION
Deferred tax is recognised in respect of all timing differences that have originated but not reversed
at the year-end date where transactions or events that result in an obligation to pay more tax in the
future or a right to pay less tax in the future have occurred at the year-end date. Timing
differences are differences between an entity’s taxable profits and its results as stated in the
financial statements.
Deferred tax is measured at the average tax rates that are expected to apply in the periods in
which timing differences are expected to reverse, based on tax rates and laws that have been
enacted or substantially enacted by the balance sheet date. Deferred tax is measured on a nondiscounted basis.
Deferred tax assets relating to unused capital allowances and pension surpluses have not been
recognised in the Statement of Financial Position on the basis that the Group is not forecasting
sufficient surpluses to realise these balances
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VALUE ADDED TAX
The Group’s primary source of income is property rents from the rental of social housing. This is
exempt for Value Added Tax (VAT) purposes. The Group has some other income streams that
are charged at the standard rate of VAT, and is able to recover part of the VAT it incurs on certain
expenditure streams under a partial exemption arrangement.
The remaining expenditure, which principally relates to the rental of social housing, is shown
inclusive of VAT.
HOUSING PROPERTIES
Housing properties are properties held for the provision of social housing or to otherwise provide
social benefit.
Completed housing properties are principally properties available for rent and are stated at
historical cost less accumulated depreciation and impairment losses. Cost includes the cost of
acquiring land and buildings and development costs.
Works to existing properties, which replace a component that has been treated separately for
depreciation purposes, along with those works that result in an increase in net rental income over
the lives of the properties, thereby enhancing the economic benefits of the assets, are capitalised
as improvements.
Expenditure on shared ownership properties is split proportionally between current and fixed
assets, based on the element relating to expected first tranche sales. The first tranche proportion
is classed as a current asset and related sales proceeds are included in turnover, with the
remaining element classed as a fixed asset and included in housing properties at cost, less any
provisions needed for depreciation or impairment.
The Government’s social housing rent cutting programme of 1% per annum for the last four
financial years has had a significant effect on social housing property values. In response to the
change in value of housing properties arising from these cuts, combined with a continuing
impairment risk arising from any future rent cuts, the Board is of the opinion that accounting for
housing properties on a historical cost basis best reflects the levels of investment in the housing
stock and remains the most appropriate policy for the Group.
COMMERCIAL PROPERTIES
Certain rents are charged at commercial rates on garages and retail premises. All of these
properties were transferred as part of the social housing stock. Any associated carrying costs
were not separately identified on transfer and so any such costs are included in social housing
properties held for letting. The income and expenditure on these properties is accounted for under
non-social housing activities as income and expenditure from lettings.
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DEPRECIATION ON HOUSING PROPERTIES
The Group separately identifies the major components which comprise its housing properties, and
charges depreciation, so as to write-down the cost of each component to its estimated residual
value, on a straight line basis, over its estimated useful economic life.
The Group depreciates the key components of its housing properties over the following number of
years:
Structure
Roof
Windows and doors
Boiler and fire
Kitchen
Bathroom
Central heating
Wiring
Lifts
Render
Cladding

100 years
50 years
30 years
15 years
20 years
20 to 30 years
30 years
30 years
30 years
30 years
60 years

Freehold land is not depreciated.
Leasehold properties are amortised over the life of the lease or their estimated useful economic
lives in the business, if shorter.
IMPAIRMENT
Housing properties are assessed annually for impairment indicators. Where indicators are
identified, an assessment for impairment is undertaken comparing the scheme’s carrying amount
to its recoverable amount. Where the carrying amount of a scheme is deemed to exceed its
recoverable amount, it is written down to its recoverable amount. The resultant loss is recognised
as operating expenditure. Where a scheme is currently deemed not to be providing service
potential to the Group, its recoverable amount is its fair value less costs to sell. Where impairment
provided in previous years is no longer deemed to be required, it is written back in the statement of
comprehensive income.
OTHER FIXED ASSETS
Other fixed assets are measured at cost less accumulated depreciation and impairment losses.
Depreciation is provided evenly on the cost of other fixed assets to write them down to their
estimated residual values over their expected useful lives. A full year’s depreciation is charged in
the year of acquisition and no depreciation is charged in the year of disposal.
The Group depreciates other fixed assets over the following number of years:
Freehold offices
Leasehold offices
Office equipment
Computer equipment
Plant and machinery

50 to 80 years
Life of the lease
3 - 5 years
3 - 5 years
2 - 5 years
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FIXED ASSETS INVESTMENTS
Investment in Subsidiaries
The Group Company accounts for investment in subsidiaries at cost. As noted above, these are
netted against the corresponding share capital in the subsidiaries’ financial statements on
consolidation. Details of the Group Company’s investment in subsidiaries are set out in Note 15.
Investment in Joint Venture
The Group Company accounts for its interest in Centre for Partnerships as a joint venture. The
investment is held at the carrying amount of the net assets attributable to the Group Company.
Details of the Group Company’s investment in joint venture are set out in Note 16.
Investment
The Group has accounted for its investment in MORHomes Plc at cost. The reasons for this are
as noted above. Details of the Group’s investment in MORHomes are set out in Note 17.
PROPERTIES HELD FOR SALE
Completed shared ownership and other properties held for sale, and properties under construction
for sale are valued at the lower of cost and net realisable value. Cost includes the cost of
acquiring land and buildings and development costs. Net realisable value is based on estimated
sales price after allowing for all further costs of completion and disposal.
STOCK
The stock is valued at the lower of cost or net realisable value.
DEBTORS
Short-term debtors are initially recognised at transaction price. They are subsequently reviewed
on a monthly basis for any impairment and/or changes to their perceived recoverability and are
written down accordingly.
Where deferral of payment terms have been agreed at below market rates and these are material,
the balance is shown at the present value, discounted at a market rate.
LIQUID RESOURCES
The Group deposits its available cash resources in readily disposable current asset investments.
These include money market deposits held for more than 24 hours, which can only be withdrawn
without penalty on maturity or by giving notice of more than one working day.
CREDITORS
Short-term creditors are measured at the transaction price.
GOVERNMENT GRANTS
Government grants include grants receivable from Homes England, local authorities, and other
government organisations. Government grants received for housing properties are recognised in
income over the useful life of the housing property structure.
Grants relating to revenue are recognised in income over the same period of the expenditure to
which they relate once reasonable assurance has been gained that the entity will comply with the
conditions and that the funds will be received.
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Grants due from government organisations or received in advance are included as current assets
or liabilities.
Government grants received for housing properties are subordinated to the repayment of loans by
agreement with Homes England. Government grants released on sale of a property may be
repayable, but are normally available to be recycled and are credited to a Recycled Capital Grant
Fund and included in the Consolidated Statement of Financial Position as a creditor.
If there is no requirement to recycle or repay the grant on disposal of the asset, any unamortised
grant remaining within creditors is released and recognised as income in the Consolidated
Statement of Comprehensive Income.
PROVISIONS FOR LIABILITIES
Provisions are recognised when the Group has a present obligation (legal or constructive) as a
result of a past event, it is probable that the Group will be required to settle the obligation, and a
reliable estimate can be made of the amount of the obligation.
The amount recognised as a provision is the best estimate of the consideration required to settle
the present obligation at the end of the reporting period, taking into account the risks and
uncertainties surrounding the obligation.
LEASES
All of the Group’s leases are classified as operating leases.
Rentals payable under operating leases are charged to operating expenditure on a straight-line
basis over the lease term, unless the rental payments increase with inflation, in which case the
amount recognised for the annual rent expense is equal to the amount owed to the lessor.
The Group defines an onerous lease as one in which the unavoidable cost of meeting the
obligations under the lease exceeds the economic benefits expected to be received under it.
Where a lease is considered to be onerous an appropriate provision and/or contingent liability is
included in the financial statements.
FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS AND FINANCIAL ASSETS AND LIABILITIES
Financial assets and liabilities are recognised when the Group becomes a party to the contractual
provisions of the instrument, and are offset only when the Group currently has a legally
enforceable right to set off the recognised amounts and intends either to settle on a net basis, or to
realise the asset and settle the liability simultaneously.
Financial assets and liabilities are classified into specified categories. The classification depends
on the nature and purpose of the financial assets and liabilities and is determined at the time of
recognition.
‘Basic financial assets’ include rents and service charges receivable, trade and other debtors, and
cash and cash equivalents, and are initially measured at the transaction price, including any
transaction costs, and are subsequently carried at amortised cost using the effective interest
method, unless the arrangement constitutes a financing transaction, where the transaction is
measured at the present value of the future receipts discounted at a market rate of interest.
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Financial assets measured at amortised cost are assessed for indicators of impairment at the end
of each reporting period. If an asset is considered to be impaired, the impairment loss is
calculated, this being the difference between the carrying amount and the estimated future cash
flows discounted at the asset’s original effective interest rate, and recognised in the Statement of
Comprehensive Income.
‘Basic financial liabilities’ include trade and other creditors, bank and other loans, and amounts due
to bondholders (see below), and are recognised at the transaction price, including transaction
costs. Transaction costs are written off over the period of the related borrowings.
Financial instruments are accounted for as financial assets and liabilities and are classified as
such according to the substance of the contractual arrangements entered into. Financial
instruments, which meet the criteria of a ‘basic financial instrument’ as defined in FRS 102 Section 11, are measured initially at their transaction price and subsequently measured at
amortised cost.
Bonds are classed as a ‘basic financial liability’ as they meet the criteria for ‘basic financial
instruments’ under Section 11.9 of FRS 102. They are initially recognised at the transaction price,
including any discount on issue and transaction costs, and subsequently measured at amortised
cost using the effective interest method. Coupons payable are also classed as ‘basic financial
liabilities’ and are recognised on the basis of the effective interest method, and are included in
finance costs, with any discount on issue and transaction costs being written off over the life of the
bond.
The Group’s financial instruments, which include the bank and other loans, and the Bond issued
by Incommunities Treasury Plc on 21 March 2019, have been accounted for as ‘basic financial
instruments’.
CHANGE IN THE BASIS OF ACCOUNTING FOR THE SOCIAL HOUSING PENSION SCHEME
As noted above, the Group participates in the Social Housing Pension Scheme (SHPS, the
‘Scheme’), a defined benefit multi-employer pension scheme with approximately 450 sponsoring
employers, which includes social landlords. The scheme is administered by TPT Retirement
Solutions (formerly The Pensions Trust) (‘TPT’).
The Scheme is subject to the funding legislation outlined in the Pensions Act 2004 which came
into force on 30 December 2005. This, together with documents issued by the Pensions Regulator
and Technical Actuarial Standards issued by the Financial Reporting Council, set out the
framework for funding defined benefit occupational pension schemes in the UK.
Prior to 2019, it was not possible for the Association to obtain sufficient information to enable it to
account for the Scheme as a defined benefit (‘DB’) scheme. Consequently, in accordance with
FRS 102 paragraphs 28.11 and 28.11A and Housing SORP paragraphs 15.9 to 15.12, the
Association had previously accounted for SHPS as a defined contribution (‘DC’) scheme, and
recognised a liability for the present value of the social landlord’s deficit funding agreement.
From 2019 onwards, following a number of changes made to systems and processes by TPT, they
have been able to provide sufficient information on each social landlord’s share of SHPS to allow
for DB accounting to be applied. This information was available for the year ending 31 March
2019, with an accurate starting position at 31 March 2018. TPT does not have data to provide
sufficient information before 31 March 2018.
The financial effect of the change in the basis of accounting was to increase the pension provision
at 1 April 2018 by £281k. This amount was charged to other comprehensive income in the
Statement of Comprehensive Income in 2019.
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The financial effects of the change in the basis of accounting on the present value of the defined
benefit assets and liabilities and the defined benefit costs are set out in Note 33. and recognised in
the Statement of Comprehensive Income.
Other SHPS charges made during the year and changes to the amounts provided at the year-end
are in accordance with accounting for SHPS as a DB scheme. These amounts are also set out in
Note 33., together with details of the Schemes assets and liabilities and key assumptions. These
are recognised in the Statement of Comprehensive Income and the Statement of Financial
Position.
OPERATING SEGMENTS
As there is a publicly traded security within the Group, it is required to disclose information about
operating segments under IFRS 8. Segmental information is disclosed in Note 3. and as part of
the analysis of housing properties in Note 13. Information about income, expenditure and assets
attributable to material operating segments are presented on the basis of the nature and function
of housing assets held by the Group rather than geographical location. As permitted by IFRS 8
this is appropriate on the basis of the similarity of the services provided, the nature of the risks
associated, the type and class of customer and the nature of the regulatory environment across all
of the geographical locations in which the Group operates. The Board does not routinely receive
segmental information disaggregated by geographical location.
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3.

TURNOVER, COST OF SALES, OPERATING COSTS AND OPERATING SURPLUS
Group
Turnover

SOCIAL HOUSING ACTIVITIES
Income and expenditure from social
housing lettings
OTHER SOCIAL HOUSING ACTIVITIES
Supporting People contract income
Sale of first tranche shared ownership
housing properties
Other income and expenditure
ACTIVITIES OTHER THAN SOCIAL
HOUSING
Income and expenditure from lettings
Property development activities
Other income and expenditure

Gain on sale and disposal of housing
properties and other fixed assets (Note 5.)

2019*

2020
Cost of
Operating
sales expenditure

Operating
surplus

Turnover

Cost of
sales

Operating
expenditure

Operating
surplus

£’000

£’000

£’000

£’000

£’000

£’000

£’000

£’000

93,474

-

(71,545)

21,929

93,716

-

(75,569)

18,147

781

-

(1,039)

(258)

751

-

(1,032)

(281)

1,400
603

(747)
-

(157)

653
446

376

-

(76)

300

896
2,492
1,705

(2,150)
-

(305)
(21)
(5,793)

591
321
(4,088)

1,108
610
1,829

(594)
-

(283)
(7,755)

825
16
(5,926)

101,351

(2,897)

(78,860)

19,594

98,390

(594)

(84,715)

13,081

6,391

3,651

25,985

16,732

*The operating surplus for 2019 has been amended to include the gain on disposal of housing properties and other fixed assets in accordance with
SORP 2018. Certain items of expenditure have been reallocated to correspond with the current year’s allocation.
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TURNOVER, COST OF SALES, OPERATING COSTS AND OPERATING SURPLUS (Continued)
Company

2020
Turnover

ACTIVITIES OTHER THAN SOCIAL
HOUSING
Other income and expenditure

2019

Cost of
Operating
Sales expenditure

Operating
deficit

Turnover

Cost of
sales

Operating
expenditure

Operating
deficit

£’000

£’000

£’000

£’000

£’000

£’000

£’000

£’ 000

48,378

-

(52,413)

(4,035)

47,801

-

(53,707)

(5,906)
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3.

TURNOVER, COST OF SALES, OPERATING COSTS AND OPERATING SURPLUS (Continued)
Group

2020

2019*

General
needs

Supported
Housing

Low cost
home
ownership

£’000

£’000

£’000

TURNOVER FROM SOCIAL HOUSING
LETTINGS
Rent receivable net of voids
Service charges receivable
Amortised government grants (Note 26.)

82,675
5,009
800

3,115
1,603
22

TURNOVER FROM SOCIAL HOUSING
LETTINGS

88,484

Total

General
needs

Supported
Housing

Low cost
home
ownership

Total

£’000

£’000

£’000

£’000

£’000

231
19
-

86,021
6,631
822

82,815
5,088
762

3,189
1,606
22

211
23
-

86,215
6,717
784

4,740

250

93,474

88,665

4,817

234

93,716

Impairment of housing properties (Note 13.)

(24,358)
(2,142)
(21,078)
(2,352)
(1,607)
922
(16,808)
(484)
649

(1,369)
(735)
(996)
(238)
(182)
6
(631)
(9)
-

(40)
(6)
(3)
(2)
(82)
-

(25,767)
(2,883)
(22,074)
(2,593)
(1,791)
928
(17,521)
(493)
649

(22,393)
(2,636)
(19,174)
(4,242)
(1,595)
(2,261)
(16,611)
(532)
(1,500)

(1,310)
(820)
(908)
(509)
(315)
(1)
(605)
-

(37)
(8)
(5)
(11)
(3)
(93)
-

(23,740)
(3,464)
(20,087)
(4,762)
(1,913)
(2,262)
(17,309)
(532)
(1,500)

OPERATING EXPENDITURE ON SOCIAL
HOUSING LETTINGS

(67,258)

(4,154)

(133)

(71,545)

(70,944)

(4,468)

(157)

(75,569)

21,226

586

117

21,929

17,721

349

77

18,147

(883)

(132)

(2)

(1,017)

(1,419)

(153)

-

(1,572)

Particulars of income and expenditure
from social housing lettings

EXPENDITURE ON LETTING ACTIVITIES
Management
Service charges costs
Routine maintenance
Planned maintenance
Major repairs expenditure
Bad debts
Depreciation of housing properties (Note 13.)

Component write-offs

OPERATING SURPLUS ON SOCIAL
HOUSING LETTINGS
Rent loss due to voids

*Certain items of expenditure in 2019 have been reallocated to correspond with the current year’s allocation.
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4.

ACCOMMODATION OWNED AND MANAGED AND IN DEVELOPMENT
At the year-end the number of units owned and managed for each class of assets and the number
of units in development is as follows:

Owned not
managed

Managed
not owned

Owned and
managed

2020
Total
owned and
managed

No.

No.

No.

No.

No.

General needs – social rent
General needs – affordable rent
Supported housing*
Intermediate
Shared ownership
Social leased
Market rent

-

335
-

18,165
2,337
908
19
101
1,106
20

18,500
2,337
908
19
101
1,106
20

18,917
2,106
900
16
89
1,112
8

Total

-

335

22,656

22,991

23,148

171

87

Group

Accommodation in development

2019
Total
owned and
managed

The comparatives for 2019 have been restated to match the definitions used by the Regulator of
Social Housing in their Financial Viability Assessment (FVA) and Statistical Data Return (SDR).
Reconciliation of unit numbers:
General
needs –
social rent

General
needs –
affordable
rent

Supported
housing*

Other

Total

No.

No.

No.

No.

No.

18,917

2,106

900

1,225

23,148

New stock into management
New stock acquired / developed
Stock demolished
Sales to tenants – freehold
Sales to tenants – leasehold
Other gains / (losses)
Movements within categories

10
12
(189)
(78)
(3)
(3)
(166)

81
(16)
3
163

8

28
(2)
(5)

10
121
(189)
(94)
(3)
(2)
-

Net change in number of units

(417)

231

8

21

(157)

18,500

2,337

908

1,246

22,991

Group

Opening units

Closing units

*Includes housing for older people
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5.

SALE AND DISPOSAL OF HOUSING PROPERTIES AND OTHER FIXED ASSETS
Group

Disposal proceeds (net)
*Carrying value of assets (Notes 13. and 14.)
Grant on disposal (Note 26.)

Capital grant recycled (Note 24.)

6.

2020
£’000

2019
£’000

8,257
(1,844)
331

5,900
(2,299)
588

6,744
(353)

4,189
(538)

6,391

3,651

2020
£’000

2019
£’000

(17,521)
649
(741)

(17,309)
(1,500)
(774)

(104)
(1,802)

(219)
(1,841)

(134)
-

(76)
(8)
(18)

2020
£’000

2019
£’000

(511)

(534)

(73)
(1,325)

(73)
(1,359)

(54)
-

(55)
(8)
(18)

OPERATING SURPLUS
Group
Operating surplus is stated after crediting / (charging):
Depreciation of housing properties (Note 13.)
Impairment of housing properties (Note 13.)
Depreciation of other fixed assets (Note 14.)
Operating lease rentals:
Land and buildings
Motor vehicles and office equipment
Auditors’ remuneration (excluding VAT):
Audit services – statutory audit of the Association
Audit related services
Non-audit services

Company
Operating surplus is stated after charging:
Depreciation of other fixed assets (Note 14.)
Operating lease rentals:
Land and buildings
Other
Auditors’ remuneration (excluding VAT):
Audit services – statutory audit of the Association
Audit related services
Non-audit services

71

Incommunities Group Limited
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
For the year ended 31 March 2020
7.

INTEREST RECEIVABLE AND OTHER INCOME
Group

2020
£’000

2019
£’000

27

37

Group

2020
£’000

2019
£’000

Bond
Bank loans and overdrafts
Other loans
Amortisation of bond and loan issue costs
Amortisation of loan fair value adjustment
Defined benefit pension charge
Disposals Proceeds Fund
Other financing costs

6,500
4,025
88
228
(163)
665
341

178
14,920
96
16
(163)
746
6
448

11,684

16,247

2020
£’000

2019
£’000

637

719

2020
£’000

2019
£’000

-

29,434
102
1,282

-

30,818

-

(5,972)

-

24,846

Interest on bank deposits and similar income

8.

INTEREST PAYABLE AND FINANCING COSTS

Company

Defined benefit pension charge

9.

REFINANCING COSTS
Group

Break costs on fixed rate hedges
Other fees and charges
Write-off of loan issue costs

Crystallisation of a fair value adjustment made on the acquisition of
Sadeh Lok Limited on breaking of fixed rate hedge

During 2019, the Group refinanced a significant proportion of its bank debt with the on-lent proceeds
of a bond issue (Note 23.). This resulted in the one-off refinancing cost of £24.8m.
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10.

EMPLOYEES
Group
The average monthly number of employees expressed as full time
equivalents (calculated based on a standard working week of 37hrs):
Administration and management
Housing, support and care
Direct works
Development
Employment opportunity schemes

2020
No.

2019
No.

186
312
409
14
43

176
338
424
13
75

964

1,026

During the year Incommunities Group Limited has been involved in the management of a number of
employment opportunity schemes. These workers are employed within businesses across Bradford
and work for 30 hours per week. The 43 (2019: 75) full time equivalents above represent 118
(2019: 209) employees who, in some cases, have moved on to permanent employment with their
respective employers.
Group
Staff costs for the above persons:
Wages & salaries
Social security costs
Other pension costs and current service cost

The full time equivalent number of staff who received remuneration:
£60,000 - £69,999
£70,000 - £79,999
£80,000 - £89,999
£90,000 - £99,999
£100,000 - £109,999
£120,000 - £129,999
£140,000 - £149,999
£150,000 - £159,999
£200,000+

2020
£’000

2019
£’000

27,532
2,596
8,188

28,800
2,687
10,230

38,316

41,717

2020
No.

2019
No.

12
8
3
4
6
1
1
2
1

17
5
3
2
6
3
1
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EMPLOYEES (Continued)
Company
The average monthly number of employees expressed as full time
equivalents (calculated based on a standard working week of 37hrs):
Administration and management
Housing, support and care
Direct works
Development
Employment opportunity schemes

Staff costs for the above persons:
Wages & salaries
Social security costs
Other pension costs and current service cost

The full time equivalent number of staff who received remuneration:
£60,000 - £69,999
£70,000 - £79,999
£80,000 - £89,999
£90,000 - £99,999
£100,000 - £109,999
£120,000 - £129,999
£140,000 - £149,999
£150,000 - £159,999
£200,000+

2020
No.

2019
No.

185
296
409
14
43

175
322
424
13
75

947

1,009

2020
£’000

2019
£’000

27,015
2,548
8,162

28,278
2,637
10,207

37,725

41,122

2020
No.

2019
No.

12
7
3
4
6
1
1
2
1

17
4
3
2
6
3
1
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11.

BOARD MEMBERS AND EXECUTIVE MANAGEMENT TEAM
The Directors and the members of the Executive Management Team who held office during the
year and from the year-end to the date of this report are set out on page 1.
At the year-end, the Board comprises of 10 members (2019: 10 members) and one co-optee
member (2019: one co-optee member). During the year, three Directors stepped down as
members of the Board after serving their permitted nine-year terms, and were replaced. The cooptee member also stepped down during the year and was replaced. No changes in membership
occurred between the year-end and the date of this report. The Directors are drawn from a wide
background bringing together commercial, professional and local experience.
The Group Company is the participating body in the West Yorkshire Local Government Pension
Fund (the ‘Fund’). Certain members of the Executive Management Team and other members of
staff who work day-to-day in Incommunities are members of the Fund, and their associated
employment and pension costs are recharged by the Group Company to Incommunities in the form
of a management charge.
The Directors and the members of the Executive Management Team form the key management
personnel of the Group. The contracts of employment of the members of the Executive
Management Team and all other members of staff who work day-to-day in Incommunities are held
by the Group Company.
During the year, the Directors received total remuneration of £68,505 (2019: £66,744), and their
expenses amounted to £2,277 (2019: £637).
In addition, Employers National Insurance
contributions of £852 (2019: £908) were paid on their behalf. These amounts exclude amounts paid
to the Group Chief Executive, who is a Director of the Board, and whose remuneration is included in
the disclosures relating to the members of the Executive Management Team.
During the year, the Executive Management Team received total remuneration of £558,863 (2019:
£547,399). In addition, Employers National Insurance contributions of £70,568 (2019: £68,632)
and contributions to the West Yorkshire Pension Fund of £48,716 (2019: £47,059) were paid on
their behalf. Three members of the Executive Management Team participate in the WYPF. The
total remuneration received by the highest paid executive was £197,206 (2019: £193,449). In
addition, Employers National Insurance contributions of £25,539 (2019: £25,062) were paid on their
behalf. No pension contributions were paid on behalf of the highest paid executive.
The Group Chief Executive’s salary has been enhanced to compensate for their withdrawal from the
West Yorkshire Pension Fund, but otherwise they receive no other enhancements or special terms
and no other pension contributions funded by the Group.
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12.

TAXATION
Group
Current tax:
UK Corporation tax on surplus / (deficit) for the year
Adjustments in respect of prior years

Total current tax

2020
£’000

2019
£’000

147
(148)

241
124

(1)

365

Factors affecting the tax charge for the year:
The tax assessed for the year is different from the standard rate of corporation tax in the UK. The
differences are explained below:
2020
2019
£’000
£’000
Surplus / (deficit) before tax

Surplus / (deficit) for the year multiplied by the standard rate of
corporation tax in the UK of 19% (2019: 19%)
Effects of:
Exempt charitable activities
Adjustments to brought forward values
Adjustments to opening deferred tax to average rate of 19%
Deferred tax not recognised
Amounts charged directly to STRGL or otherwise transferred
Fixed asset differences

Adjustments to tax charge in respect of prior years

Tax expense

14,351

(24,337)

2,727

(4,624)

(3,577)
(5,207)
(580)
7,658
(901)
27

3,467
16
1,382
-

147
(148)

241
124

(1)

365
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12.

TAXATION (Continued)
Company
Current tax:
UK Corporation tax on deficit for the year
Adjustments in respect of prior periods

Total current tax

2020
£’000

2019
£’000

114
(148)

220
124

(34)

344

Factors affecting the tax charge for the year:
The tax assessed for the year is higher than the standard rate of corporation tax in the UK. The
differences are explained below:
2020
2019
£’000
£’000
Deficit on ordinary activities before tax

(4,649)

(6,638)

Deficit on ordinary activities before tax multiplied by the standard rate of
corporation tax in the UK of 19% (2019: 19%)

(883)

(1,261)

Effects of:
Adjustments to brought forward values
Adjustment to opening deferred tax to average rate of 19%
Deferred tax not recognised
Amounts (charged) / credited directly to STRGL or otherwise transferred
Fixed asset differences
Expenses not deductible

(5,207)
(580)
7,658
(901)
27
-

82
1,382
17

114
(148)

220
124

(34)

344

Adjustments to tax charge in respect of prior years

Tax expense

Deferred tax assets of £5.5m (2019: £5.1m) relating to unused capital allowances and pension
surpluses have not been recognised in the Statement of Financial Position on the basis that the
Group Company is not forecasting sufficient surpluses to realise these balances.
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13.

TANGIBLE FIXED ASSETS – HOUSING PROPERTIES
Group
Social
housing
Housing
properties
properties
held for
under
letting construction

£’000

£’000

Completed
low cost
home
ownership
housing
properties

Total
housing
properties

£’000

£’000

COST
At 1 April 2019
Scheme transferred prior to disposal
Additions
Schemes completed
Disposals
Component write-offs

576,467
(2,201)
12,831
11,003
(4,496)
(1,017)

18,407
2,201
7,324
(12,112)
-

5,324
1,114
(27)
-

600,198
20,155
(4,518)
(1,017)

At 31 March 2020

592,587

15,820

6,411

614,818

DEPRECIATION AND IMPAIRMENT
At 1 April 2019
Impairment transferred prior to disposal
Depreciation charged in year
Impairment reversed in year
Impairment transferred to provisions
Depreciation released on disposal
Component write-offs
Impairment released on disposal

(162,265)
(2,125)
(17,439)
649
1,584
1,779
524
995

(6,709)
2,125
-

(820)
(82)
1
-

(169,794)
-

At 31 March 2020

(176,298)

(4,584)

(901)

(181,783)

CARRYING AMOUNT
At 31 March 2020

416,289

11,236

5,510

433,035

At 31 March 2019

414,202

11,698

4,504

430,404

(17,521)
649
1,584
1,780
524
995
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13.

TANGIBLE FIXED ASSETS – HOUSING PROPERTIES (Continued)
Group
EXPENDITURE ON WORKS TO EXISTING PROPERTIES

Components capitalised
Amounts charged to income and expenditure

SOCIAL HOUSING ASSISTANCE
Total cumulative amounts received or receivable at 31 March:
Recognised in the Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Income
Held as deferred income (Note 26.)

2020
£’000

2019
£’000

12,831
1,791

7,369
1,913

14,622

9,282

2020
£’000

2019
£’000

12,703
73,399

11,903
74,258

86,102

86,161

The Group considers individual schemes to be separate cash generating units when assessing for
impairment, in accordance with the requirements of FRS 102 and SORP 2018.
The Group has recognised a credit in respect of a previous over-impairment of £649k (2019: charge
£1,500k) on housing properties during the year. This is referenced in Note 2. - Significant
Management Judgements.
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14.

OTHER TANGIBLE FIXED ASSETS
Group

Freehold
offices

Leasehold
offices

Office
equipment

Computer
equipment

Plant and
machinery

Total

£’000

£’000

£’000

£’000

£’000

£’000

COST
At 1 April 2019
Additions
Disposals

8,075
6
(997)

1,040
10
-

1,150
4
-

2,807
267
-

721
10
-

13,793
297
(997)

At 31 March 2020

7,084

1,050

1,154

3,074

731

13,093

(2,604)

(277)

(1,109)

(1,623)

(672)

(6,285)

(160)

(83)

(16)

(457)

(25)

(741)

896

-

-

-

-

896

(1,868)

(360)

(1,125)

(2,080)

(697)

(6,130)

CARRYING AMOUNT
At 31 March 2020

5,216

690

29

994

34

6,963

At 31 March 2019

5,471

763

41

1,184

49

7,508

DEPRECIATION AND
IMPAIRMENT
At 1 April 2019
Depreciation charged in
year
Depreciation released
on disposal

At 31 March 2020
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14.

OTHER TANGIBLE FIXED ASSETS (Continued)
Company

Leasehold
offices

Office
equipment

Computer
equipment

Plant and
machinery

Total

£’000

£’000

£’000

£’000

£’000

COST
At 1 April 2019
Additions

675
10

82
-

2,409
254

56
-

3,222
264

At 31 March 2020

685

82

2,663

56

3,486

DEPRECIATION AND
IMPAIRMENT
At 1 April 2019
Depreciation charged in year

(169)
(46)

(61)
(10)

(1,244)
(446)

(25)
(9)

(1,499)
(511)

At 31 March 2020

(215)

(71)

(1,690)

(34)

(2,010)

CARRYING AMOUNT
At 31 March 2020

470

11

973

22

1,476

At 31 March 2019

506

21

1,165

31

1,723

81

Incommunities Group Limited
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
For the year ended 31 March 2020
15.

SUBSIDIARY UNDERTAKINGS
The consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31 March 2020 consolidate the results of
Incommunities Group Limited and its subsidiaries, as below.
Name of undertaking

Nature of entity

Nature of business

Class of
shareholding

Proportion of
nominal value
held

BCHT Development
Company Limited

Private limited
company limited
by shares
Registered charity

Property
development

Ordinary

100%

Charitable Alms
House

None

N/A - direct
control

Private limited
company limited
by shares
Co-operative and
community benefit
society
Public limited
company limited
by shares
Private limited
company limited
by shares
Private limited
company limited
by shares
Co-operative and
community benefit
society
Private limited
company limited
by shares

Dormant – in
process of MVL

Ordinary

100%

Registered
Provider

Ordinary

10% - direct
control

Funding vehicle for
the Group

Ordinary

100%

Dormant – in
process of MVL

Ordinary

100%

Dormant – in
process of MVL

Ordinary

100% by Sadeh
Lok Limited

Registered
Provider

Ordinary

10% - direct
control

Dormant – in
process of MVL

Ordinary

100% by Sadeh
Lok Limited

The Eleanor
Moorhouse Homes
Trust
Incommunities
Commercial Limited
Incommunities Limited

Incommunities
Treasury Plc
Lumia Homes Limited

Sadeh Lok
Developments Limited
Sadeh Lok Limited

SLG Corporate
Limited

The registered office for all of the above companies is The Quays, Victoria Street, Shipley, BD17
7BN.
Incommunities Group Limited (the ‘Group Company’) is the ultimate parent undertaking. All of the
entities are 100% owned subsidiaries of the Group Company either by way of a direct or indirect
shareholding or the exercise of control.
The investment in subsidiaries in the Statement of Financial Position of the Group Company of £55k
(2019: £55k) represents the Group Company’s shareholding of £50k in Incommunities Treasury Plc
and £5k in Lumia Homes Limited.
The Group Company provides central and strategic services to its subsidiaries including;
maintenance and repairs, property development and regeneration, treasury and financial
management, information technology, legal services, human resources, performance monitoring and
governance.
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16.

JOINT VENTURE
Group and Company
The Group Company has an interest in Centre for Partnership LLP (the ‘Partnership’), a jointly
controlled entity providing consultancy services focussed on bringing together a team of experts
with extensive experience and knowledge in developing and promoting excellence in key aspects of
organisational effectiveness. The Partnership is registered as a Limited Liability Partnership under
the Limited Liability Partnership Act 2000, at registered address The Quays, Victoria Street, Shipley,
BD17 7BN.
The investment is held at a carrying amount of £44k (2019:£117k).
The net assets and results of Centre for Partnership LLP are as
follows:

2020
£’000

2019
£’000

305
(177)

498
(251)

128

247

Net assets attributable to the Group Company

44

117

Profit / (loss) for the year
Amount due from prior years

19
4

(13)
-

Profit / (loss) attributable to the Group Company

23

(13)

Current assets
Current liabilities

Net assets

The results relate wholly to continuing activities.
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17.

INVESTMENTS
Group

40,000 shares of nominal value £0.10 each in MorHomes Plc

2020
£’000

2019
£’000

30

30

The Group, through its subsidiary Incommunities Limited (‘Incommunities’), holds 40,000 shares of
nominal value £0.10 each in MORHomes Plc, a company formed to provide capital markets funding
to the social housing sector. The shares were subscribed for in 2019 at a nominal value of £4k,
with a premium on issue of £26k, resulting in a total investment of £30k. Incommunities is one of
the original 33 sponsoring companies and a ‘founder shareholder’.
The Group has been advised by MORHomes Plc that its shares are not publicly traded and
therefore the fair value cannot be measured reliably. MORHomes Plc has provided a copy of its
latest financial statements and advised that its business plan shows they expect to make profits and
pay dividends in due course, and that they are very much a going concern. Based on the advice,
information and assurances provided by MORHomes Plc, the Group has determined to include the
investment in its statement of financial position at cost. This is in line with the prior year.

18.

PROPERTIES HELD FOR SALE
Group

Work in progress

19.

2020
£’000

2019
£’000

-

1,378

2020
£’000

2019
£’000

741

733

2020
£’000

2019
£’000

-

733

STOCK
Group

Stock of materials

Company

Stock of materials

This represents materials held for property maintenance.
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20.

DEBTORS
Group
Amounts falling due within one year:
Rent and service charges receivable
Less: provision for bad and doubtful debts

Trade debtors
Other debtors
Prepayments and accrued income

Company
Amounts falling due within one year:
Amounts owed by Group undertakings
Other debtors
Prepayments and accrued income

2020
£’000

2019
£’000

7,493
(2,397)

10,787
(8,296)

5,096
1,145
1,397

2,491
28
1,183
441

7,638

4,143

2020
£’000

2019
£’000

655
707
1,338

359
888
262

2,700

1,509

The amounts owed by Group undertakings are due on demand and are interest free.
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21.

CREDITORS: AMOUNTS FALLING DUE WITHIN ONE YEAR
Group

2020
£’000

2019
£’000

Rent and service charges received in advance
Debt (Note 23.)
Recycled Capital Grant Fund
Disposal Proceeds Fund (Note 25.)
Deferred capital grant fund (Note 26.)
Trade creditors
Corporation tax
Other taxation and social security costs
Other creditors
Accruals and deferred income

2,487
164
475
835
822
1,194
151
606
1,034
5,093

2,629
168
784
924
241
606
644
14,260

12,861

20,256

Company

2020
£’000

2019
£’000

Amounts owed to Group undertakings
Trade creditors
Corporation tax
Other taxation and social security costs
Other creditors
Accruals and deferred income

2,311
1,166
118
591
730
1,740

1,316
900
220
592
376
2,584

6,656

5,988

The amounts owed to Group undertakings are due on demand and are interest free.
22.

CREDITORS: AMOUNTS FALLING DUE AFTER MORE THAN ONE YEAR

Group

Debt (Note 23.)
Recycled Capital Grant Fund
Disposal Proceeds Fund (Note 25.)
Deferred capital grant (Note 26.)
Sinking fund
Other creditors

2020
£’000

2019
£’000

298,734
901
72,577
464
84

302,777
1,023
834
73,474
198
84

372,760

378,390
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23.

DEBT ANALYSIS
Group

2020
£’000

2019
£’000

Creditors: Amounts falling due within one year:
Bank loans
Other loans

162
2

164
4

Total loans falling due within one year

164

168

Creditors: Amounts falling due after more than one year:
Bank loans
Bond
Other loans

102,331
198,402
926

106,424
198,370
928

Less: Loan issue costs

301,659
(2,925)

305,722
(2,945)

Total loans falling due after more than one year

298,734

302,777

Total loans

298,898

302,945

Based on the lender’s earliest repayment date, borrowings are repayable
as follows:
Within one year or on demand
One year or more but less than two years
Two years or more but less than five years
Five years or more

164
1
51,388
247,345

168
2
15,199
287,576

298,898

302,945

The Group has three bank facilities. These are denominated and repayable in Sterling and have
contractual interest rates that are fixed rates or variable rates linked to LIBOR.
During the year, the Group renegotiated one of its facilities, increasing the facility amount and
improving the terms.
At 31 March 2020, total bank facilities stand at £155m (2019: £145.8m), of which £40m (2019:
£40m) is a fixed rate loan with an interest rate of 4.24% (plus margin) and £115m (2019: £105.8m)
are variable rate loans. The fixed rate loan is due for repayment in 10 equal, annual instalments
commencing in November 2034. The variable rate loans are due for repayment between February
2025 and July 2029.
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23.

DEBT ANALYSIS (Continued)
At the year-end, £40m (2019: £40m) of the fixed rate loan and £61.0m (2019: £64.9m) of the
variable rate loans are drawn. £56.8m (2019: £60.6m) of the variable rate loans are on short-term
fixed rates of less than 12 months, with interest rates in the range 0.45% to 0.80% (plus margin)
(2019: 0.68% to 0.85% (plus margin)), and £4.2m (2019: £4.3m) is on a medium term amortising
fixed rate with an interest rate of 4.75% (plus margin).
At 31 March 2020, the total bank loan issue costs stand at £773k (2019: £718k) after additional
costs of £175k were incurred during the year. These will be amortised over the remaining life of the
loans.
At the year-end, the Group has undrawn bank facilities of £54.0m (2019: £40.9m).
The bank loans are secured by way of fixed charges over the Group’s housing properties in favour
of Prudential Trustee Company Limited acting as Security Trustee.
On 21 March 2019, Incommunities Treasury Plc (the ’Company’) issued a 30-year £250m own
name public issue dated senior secured bond (the ‘Bond’) at a coupon rate of 3.25%. The initial
offer to the market was for a principal amount of £200m of bonds (the ‘Principal Amount’, the
‘Issued Bond’) with a principal amount of £50m of bonds retained for later issue (the ‘Retained
Bond’). The Issued Bond was priced at 99.184% (the ‘Bond Issue Price’) equivalent to a Discount
on Issue of £1,632k (0.816%). The net funds received were £198.368m (£99.184 per £100 issued).
In arranging the Bond, the Company incurred Bond Issue Costs of £2,218k, which were paid
directly from the proceeds of the Bond, or by other Group entities on the Company’s behalf. These
latter costs were reimbursed by the Company through intercompany accounts.
At the year-end, the Discount on Issue stands at £1,598k (2019: £1,630k) and the Bond Issue Costs
stand at £2,142k (2019: £2,216k). These will be amortised over the term of the Bond. Interest is
payable to the bondholders at a rate of 3.25% on the Principal Amount.
The Bond is secured by way of fixed charges over the Group’s housing properties in favour of
Prudential Trustee Company Limited acting as Security Trustee.
The Principal Amount is due for repayment in March 2049.
Following the Bond issue, the Company provided Credit Facilities, equal to the amount of the Bond,
to Incommunities and Sadeh Lok (the ‘Borrowers’). The Issued Bond was allocated in a ratio of
90:10 (Incommunities/Sadeh Lok) and the Retained Bond allocated in a ratio of 100:0
(Incommunities/Sadeh Lok). Based on the allocation, the principal amounts of the Credit Facilities
are £230m/£20m (Incommunities/Sadeh Lok). These facilities are provided under formal Loan
Agreements between the Company and the Borrowers. The agreements are not listed.
Under the Loan Agreements, the Company made advances to the Borrowers of the principal
amounts of the Issued Bond. The principal amounts were advanced at a discount of £1,632k and
after loan issue costs of £2,218k. The discount and loan issue costs are equivalent to the Discount
on Issue and Bond Issues Costs, and were allocated in a ratio of 90:10 (Incommunities/Sadeh Lok).
These will be amortised over the term of the Credit Facilities. Interest is payable on the advances
at a rate of 3.25%.
The advances fall due for repayment in March 2049.
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23.

DEBT ANALYSIS (Continued)
The other loans of £928k (2019: £932k) are with The Housing Finance Corporation (‘THFC’) and
Orchardbrook and carry fixed interest rates of 8.63% and 11.5%. The loan issue costs on the loan
from THFC stand at £10k (2019: £12k). These will be amortised over the remaining life of the loan.
These loans are secured by way of fixed charges over the Group’s housing properties and fall due
for repayment in the financial years 2021 to 2051.
At 31 March 2020, 81% (2019: 80%) of total loans are on fixed rates with maturities greater than
one year.
Total loans include a fair value adjustment on consolidation of £1,493k (2019: £1,656k).
Details of the bond issue and the advances to the Borrowers are noted in the Strategic Report and
the Directors’ Report. The related accounting policies are set out in Note 2.

24.

RECYCLED CAPITAL GRANT FUND (RCGF)
Group

2020
£’000

2019
£’000

At 1 April
Inputs:
Grants recycled
Grants previously recycled amortised

1,023

475

353
-

538
10

At 31 March

1,376

1,023

99

-

Amounts 3 years or older where repayment may be required
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25.

DISPOSALS PROCEEDS FUND (DPF)
Group

26.

2020
£’000

2019
£’000

At 1 April
Inputs:
Interest accrued
Other movements
Use or allocation of funds:
New build

834

1,223

1

6
-

-

(395)

At 31 March

835

834

Amounts 3 years or older where repayment may be required

817

-

2020
£’000

2019
£’000

At 1 April
Grant received in the year
Released to income in the year
Released on disposal

74,258
294
(822)
(331)

71,303
4,327
(784)
(588)

At 31 March

73,399

74,258

Amounts to be released within one year
Amounts to be released in more than one year

822
72,577

784
73,474

At 31 March

73,399

74,258

DEFERRED CAPITAL GRANT
Group
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27.

PROVISION FOR LIABILITIES
Group

WYPF
Funded
pension
fund
£’000

WYPF
Unfunded
pension
fund
£’000

SHPS
Pension
scheme
£’000

Other
provision
£’000

Total
£’000

At 1 April 2019
Actuarial (gains) / losses
Current service cost and
expenses
Contributions by the employer
Interest expense
Transferred from housing
properties (Note 13.)
Released in the year

26,321
3,666

1,085
(121)

983
(262)

-

28,389
3,283

8,514
(3,796)
611

(52)
26

21
(138)
28

-

8,535
(3,986)
665

-

-

-

1,584
(1,584)

1,584
(1,584)

At 31 March 2020

35,316

938

632

-

36,886

WYPF
Funded
pension
fund
£’000

WYPF
Unfunded
pension
fund
£’000

Total
£’000

At 1 April 2019
Actuarial (gains) / losses
Current service cost and
expenses
Contributions by the employer
Interest expense

26,321
3,666

1,085
(121)

27,406
3,545

8,514
(3,796)
611

(52)
26

8,514
(3,848)
637

At 31 March 2020

35,316

938

36,254

Company

Supporting financial and other information for WYPF and SHPS is set out in Note 33.
The other provision was recorded to reflect the estimated costs of the repurchase of units sold
under the right-to-buy in the three tower blocks at Crosley Wood, Bingley, and the decanting and
demolition of the scheme. During the year, the tower blocks were fully vacated and demolished.
The overall cost of the exercise was much less than had previously been anticipated, in particular,
the cost of demolishing the tower blocks, which was undertaken during the three months ended
March 2020. The land is now going to be used for a new mixed tenure development scheme and
the provision is no longer required.
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28.

SHARE CAPITAL
Incommunities Group Limited is a company limited by guarantee and does not have a share capital.
It is registered with the Registrar of Companies No. 04221767 and Homes England as a Registered
Provider No. L4363.

29.

NET CASH GENERATED FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES AND ANALYSIS OF CHANGES IN
NET DEBT
Group
NET CASH GENERATED FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES

2020
£’000

2019
£’000

Surplus / (deficit) for the year
Adjustments for:
Gain on disposal of tangible fixed assets (Note 5.)
Depreciation of tangible fixed assets (Notes 13. and 14.)
Component write-offs (Note 13.)
Impairment (credit) / charge on tangible fixed assets (Note. 13.)
Impairment transferred to provisions
Amortisation of government grants (Note 26.)
Amortisation of bond and loan issue costs (Note 8.)
Amortisation of loan fair value adjustment (Note 8.)
Write-off of loan issue costs (Note 9.)
Write-back of fair value adjustment (Note 9.)
Grants released on disposal (Note 26.)
Defined benefit pension schemes (Note 27.)
Increase / (decrease) in provisions (Note 27.)
Share of operating (profit) / loss in joint venture (Note 16.)
Interest receivable (Note 7.)
Interest payable (Note 8.)
Refinancing costs (Note 9.)
Loan issue costs (Note 9.)
Crystallisation of fair value adjustment (Note 9.)
Taxation (Note 11.)

14,352

(24,702)

(6,391)
18,262
493
(649)
(1,584)
(822)
228
(163)
(331)
(3,283)
8,497
(23)
(27)
11,684
(1)

(3,651)
18,083
532
1,500
(784)
16
(163)
(1,282)
5,972
(588)
9,014
(1,969)
13
(37)
16,247
29,536
1,282
(5,972)
365

Operating cash flows before movements in working capital

40,242

43,412

Decrease / (increase) in stock of housing properties for sale
Increase in stock
(Increase) / decrease in trade and other debtors
(Decrease) / increase in trade and other creditors

1,378
(8)
(3,292)
(7,963)

(902)
(67)
1,624
3,475

Cash generated from operations
Corporation tax paid

30,357
(89)

47,542
(133)

Net cash generated from operating activities

30,268

47,409
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29.

NET CASH GENERATED FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES AND ANALYSIS OF CHANGES IN
NET DEBT (Continued)
ANALYSIS OF CHANGES IN
NET DEBT

30.

Other
Fair value
non-cash
movements movements

At 1 April
2019

Cash flows

At 31 March
2020

£’000

£’000

£’000

£’000

£’000

Cash
Short-term deposits
Debt due within one year
Debt due in greater than one
year

2,940
8,560
(168)

4,474
(2,071)
2

2

-

7,414
6,489
(164)

(302,777)

3,882

161

-

(298,734)

Total

(291,445)

6,287

163

-

(284,995)

2020
£’000

2019
£’000

26,249

16,230

REVENUE AND CAPITAL COMMITMENTS
Group
Revenue and capital expenditure contracted for but not provided in the
financial statements

All of the committed expenditure at the year-end is included in the Group’s business plan. The
revenue and capital commitments will be funded from a combination of cash, loans and grants.
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31.

COMMITMENTS UNDER OPERATING LEASES
Group

2020
£’000

2019
£’000

Land and buildings
Amounts due:
Within one year
Between one and five years
After five years

123
490
394

135
490
517

Other
Amounts due:
Within one year
Between one and five years

1,297
1,813

1,631
2,417

Total
Amounts due:
Within one year
Between one and five years
After five years

1,420
2,303
394

1,766
2,907
517

2020
£’000

2019
£’000

Land and buildings
Amounts due:
Within one year
Between one and five years
After five years

73
290
344

73
290
417

Other
Amounts due:
Within one year
Between one and five years

980
1,321

1,204
1,955

Total
Amounts due:
Within one year
Between one and five years
After five years

1,053
1,611
344

1,277
2,245
417

The total future minimum lease payments under non-cancellable
operating leases are as follows:

Company
The total future minimum lease payments under non-cancellable
operating leases are as follows:
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32.

FINANCIAL ASSETS AND LIABILITIES
Group

2020
£’000

2019
£’000

5,096
1,145
13,903

2,491
1,211
11,500

20,144

15,202

298,898
2,487
8,044

302,945
2,629
16,759

309,429

322,333

Categories of financial assets and liabilities:
Financial assets at amortised cost:
Rents and service charges receivable
Trade and other debtors
Cash and cash equivalents

Financial liabilities at amortised cost:
Debt
Rent and service charges received in advance
Other creditors, accruals and deferred income

In addition to the above, the Group has an interest in Centre for Partnership LLP and an investment
in MorHomes Plc. Details relating to their respective values are set out in Notes 16. and 17.
The Group’s policy on financial instruments and financial assets and liabilities is set out in Note 2.
and the Group’s approach toward dealing with financial risk is covered in the Strategic Report.
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33.

RETIREMENT BENEFITS
WEST YORKSHIRE PENSION FUND
The Group Company participates in two separate funds within the West Yorkshire Pension Fund
(WYPF, the ‘Fund’), one being funded and the other unfunded. Both are contracted out of the state
scheme.
The last published formal valuation of the whole scheme was performed at 31 March 2016 by a
professionally qualified actuary using the ‘projected unit actuarial cost’ method. The market value of
the funded scheme’s assets at that date was £11,211m.
During the year the employers’ contribution to the funds was £3.8m (2019: 3.5m) and the
employees’ contribution was £1.6m (2019: £1.5m).
Details of the funded Fund’s assets and key assumptions are set out below:
RECONCILIATION OF THE DEFINED BENEFIT OBLIGATION TO THE
STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

2020
£’000

2019
£’000

181,135
(216,451)

193,480
(219,801)

(35,316)

(26,321)

2020
£’000

2019
£’000

Opening fair value of assets
Interest income on assets
Re-measurement (losses) / gains on assets
Contributions by the employer
Contributions by participants
Net benefits paid out

193,480
4,850
(18,174)
3,796
1,615
(4,432)

181,551
4,727
6,795
3,485
1,530
(4,608)

Closing fair value of assets

181,135

193,480

2020
£’000

2019
£’000

Opening defined benefit obligation
Current service cost
Interest expense on defined benefit obligation
Contributions by participants
Actuarial gains on liabilities
Net benefits paid out
Past service cost

(219,801)
(8,224)
(5,461)
(1,615)
14,508
4,432
(290)

(209,813)
(7,265)
(5,417)
(1,530)
2,441
4,608
(2,825)

Closing defined benefit obligation

(216,451)

(219,801)

Fair value of assets
Present value of funded defined benefit obligation

Defined benefit liability to be recognised

CHANGES TO THE FAIR VALUE OF ASSETS

CHANGES TO THE PRESENT VALUE OF THE DEFINED BENEFIT
OBLIGATION
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33.

RETIREMENT BENEFITS (Continued)
WEST YORKSHIRE PENSION FUND (Continued)
DEFINED BENEFIT COSTS RECOGNISED IN STATEMENT OF
COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

2020
£’000

2019
£’000

Current service cost
Past service cost
Net Interest on fair value of assets / defined benefit obligation

(8,224)
(290)
(611)

(7,265)
(2,825)
(690)

Pension expense recognised in Statement of Comprehensive Income

(9,125)

(10,780)

2020
£’000

2019
£’000

(18,174)
14,508

6,795
2,441

(3,666)

9,236

ASSET ALLOCATION

2020
%

2019
%

Equities
Property
Government bonds
Corporate bonds
Cash
Other

77.5
4.5
9.6
5.1
1.9
1.4

74.0
4.7
11.2
4.0
2.3
3.8

100.0

100.0

DEFINED BENEFIT GAINS / (LOSSES) RECOGNISED IN OTHER
COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
Asset (losses) / gains arising during the year
Liability gains arising during the year

Total amount recognised in other comprehensive income
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RETIREMENT BENEFITS (Continued)
WEST YORKSHIRE PENSION FUND (Continued)
KEY ASSUMPTIONS

Discount rate
CPI inflation
Pension increases
Pension accounts revaluation rate
Salary increases

Mortality Assumptions:
Male retiring in 2020
Female retiring in 2020
Male retiring in 2040
Female retiring in 2040

2020
P.a.

2019
P.a.

2018
P.a.

2.40%
1.75%
1.75%
1.75%
2.70%

2.50%
2.15%
2.15%
2.15%
2.90%

2.60%
2.10%
2.10%
2.10%
2.85%

2020
Years

2019
Years

21.4
24.2
21.7
25.0

21.1
24.2
21.7
25.7

The mortality assumptions are based on actual mortality experience of members within the Fund
and allow for expected future mortality improvements. The above represents the sample life
expectancies at age 65 resulting from these mortality assumptions.
Details of the unfunded Fund’s assets and key assumptions are set out below:
RECONCILIATION OF THE UNFUNDED DEFINED BENEFIT
OBLIGATION TO THE STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

2020
£’000

2019
£’000

Present value of unfunded defined benefit obligation

(938)

(1,085)

Unfunded defined benefit liability to be recognised

(938)

(1,085)

2020
£’000

2019
£’000

52
(52)

51
(51)

-

-

CHANGES TO THE FAIR VALUE OF ASSETS

Opening fair value of assets
Contributions by the employer
Net benefits paid out

Closing fair value of assets
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RETIREMENT BENEFITS (Continued)
WEST YORKSHIRE PENSION FUND (Continued)
CHANGES TO THE PRESENT VALUE OF THE UNFUNDED DEFINED
BENEFIT OBLIGATION

2020
£’000

2019
£’000

(1,085)
(26)
121
52

(1,135)
(29)
28
51

(938)

(1,085)

2020
£’000

2019
£’000

Interest on unfunded defined benefit liability

(26)

(29)

Pension expense recognised in Statement of Comprehensive Income

(26)

(29)

2020
£’000

2019
£’000

Liability gains arising during the year

121

28

Total amount recognised in other comprehensive income

121

28

2020
P.a.

2019
P.a.

2018
P.a.

2.4%
1.75%
1.75%

2.50%
2.15%
2.15%

2.60%
2.10%
2.10%

2020
Years

2019
Years

21.4
24.2

21.1
24.2

Opening defined benefit obligation
Interest expense on defined benefit obligation
Actuarial gains on liabilities
Net benefits paid out

Closing unfunded defined benefit obligation

DEFINED BENEFIT COSTS RECOGNISED IN STATEMENT OF
COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

DEFINED BENEFIT GAINS RECOGNISED IN OTHER
COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

KEY ASSUMPTIONS

Discount rate
CPI inflation
Pension increases

Mortality Assumptions:
Male retiring in 2020
Female retiring in 2020

The mortality assumptions are based on actual mortality experience of members within the Fund
and allow for expected future mortality improvements. The above represents the sample life
expectancies at age 65 resulting from these mortality assumptions.
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RETIREMENT BENEFITS (Continued)
SOCIAL HOUSING PENSION SCHEME (SHPS)
The Group participates in the Social Housing Pension Scheme (SHPS, the ‘Scheme’), a defined
benefit multi-employer pension scheme with approximately 450 sponsoring employers, which
includes social landlords. The scheme is administered by TPT Retirement Solutions (formerly The
Pensions Trust) (‘TPT’).
The Scheme is subject to the funding legislation outlined in the Pensions Act 2004 which came into
force on 30 December 2005. This, together with documents issued by the Pensions Regulator and
Technical Actuarial Standards issued by the Financial Reporting Council, set out the framework for
funding defined benefit occupational pension schemes in the UK.
Prior to 2019, it was not been possible for the Association to obtain sufficient information to enable it
to account for the Scheme as a defined benefit (‘DB’) scheme. Consequently, in accordance with
FRS 102 paragraphs 28.11 and 28.11A and Housing SORP paragraphs 15.9 to 15.12, the
Association had previously accounted for SHPS as a defined contribution (‘DC’) scheme, and
recognised a liability for the present value of the social landlord’s deficit funding agreement.
From 2019 onwards, following a number of changes made to systems and processes by TPT, they
have been able to provide sufficient information on each social landlord’s share of SHPS to allow for
DB accounting to be applied. This information was available for the year ending 31 March 2019,
with an accurate starting position at 31 March 2018. TPT does not have data to provide sufficient
information before 31 March 2018.
The financial effect of the change in the basis of accounting was to increase the pension provision
at 1 April 2018 by £281k. This amount was charged to other comprehensive income in the
Statement of Comprehensive Income in 2019.
The financial effects of the change in the basis of accounting on the present value of the defined
benefit assets and liabilities and the defined benefit costs are set out below and recognised in the
Statement of Comprehensive Income.
Other SHPS charges made during the year and changes to the amounts provided at the year-end
are in accordance with accounting for SHPS as a DB scheme. These amounts are also set out
below, together with details of the Schemes assets and liabilities and key assumptions. These are
recognised in the Statement of Comprehensive Income and the Statement of Financial Position.
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RETIREMENT BENEFITS (Continued)
SOCIAL HOUSING PENSION SCHEME (SHPS) (Continued)
STATEMENT OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

2020
£’000

2019
£’000

Additional amount to be recognised in other comprehensive income in
the current year for the change in the basis of accounting for SHPS:
Deficit funding liability at 31 March 2018
Defined benefit liability at 31 March 2018

-

(840)
(1,121)

Initial recognition of defined benefit scheme

-

(281)

2020
£’000

2019
£’000

Change in provision for pension liabilities:
At 1 April
Initial recognition of defined benefit scheme

(983)
-

(840)
(281)

Change in present value of defined benefit obligation

(983)
351

(1,121)
138

At 31 March

(632)

(983)

2020
£’000

2019
£’000

3,634
(4,266)

3,505
(4,488)

(632)

(983)

RECONCILIATION OF OPENING AND CLOSING BALANCES OF THE
FAIR VALUE OF PLAN ASSETS

2020
£’000

2019
£’000

Fair value of plan assets at start of period
Interest income
Experience on plan assets (excluding amounts included in interest
income)
Contributions by the employer
Contributions by plan participants
Benefits paid and expenses

3,505
81

3,406
89

110
138
15
(215)

(24)
159
18
(143)

Fair value of plan assets at end of period

3,634

3,505

STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

PRESENT VALUES OF DEFINED BENEFIT OBLIGATION, FAIR
VALUE OF ASSETS AND DEFINED BENEFIT LIABILITY
Fair value of plan assets
Present value of defined benefit obligation

Defined benefit liability to be recognised
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RETIREMENT BENEFITS (Continued)
SOCIAL HOUSING PENSION SCHEME (SHPS) (Continued)
RECONCILIATION OF OPENING AND CLOSING BALANCES OF THE
DEFINED BENEFIT OBLIGATION

2020
£’000

2019
£’000

Defined benefit obligation at start of period
Current service cost
Expenses
Interest expense
Contributions by plan participants
Actuarial gains due to scheme experience
Actuarial gains due to changes in demographic assumptions
Actuarial gains / (losses) due to changes in financial assumptions
Benefits paid and expenses

(4,488)
(17)
(4)
(109)
(15)
(149)
43
258
215

(4,527)
(21)
(4)
(116)
(18)
149
76
(170)
143

Defined benefit obligation at end of period

(4,266)

(4,488)

2020
£’000

2019
£’000

Current service cost
Expenses
Net interest expense

(17)
(4)
(28)

(21)
(4)
(27)

Defined benefit recognised in Statement of Comprehensive Income –
(Cost)

(49)

(52)

2020
£’000

2019
£’000

110
(149)

(24)
149

43

76

258

(170)

262

31

DEFINED BENEFIT RECOGNISED IN STATEMENT OF
COMPREHENSIVE INCOME – (COST)

DEFINED BENEFIT GAINS / (LOSSES) RECOGNISED IN OTHER
COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
Experience on plan assets (excluding amounts included in net interest
cost) – gains / (losses)
Experience arising on plan liabilities – gains / (losses)
Effects of changes in the demographic assumptions underlying the
present value of the defined benefit obligation – gains / (losses)
Effects of changes in the financial assumptions underlying the present
value of the defined benefit obligation – gains / (losses)

Total amount recognised in other comprehensive income
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RETIREMENT BENEFITS (Continued)
SOCIAL HOUSING PENSION SCHEME (SHPS) (Continued)
ASSETS

2020
£’000

2019
£’000

Global equity
Absolute return
Distressed opportunities
Credit relative value
Alternative risk premia
Fund of hedge funds
Emerging markets debt
Risk sharing
Insurance-linked securities
Property
Infrastructure
Private debt
Opportunistic illiquid debt
Corporate bond fund
Liquid credit
Long lease property
Secured income
Liability driven investment
Net current assets

532
189
70
100
254
2
110
123
112
80
270
73
88
207
1
63
138
1,206
16

590
303
64
64
202
16
121
106
101
79
184
47
163
52
125
1,281
7

3,634

3,505

KEY ASSUMPTIONS

2020
%

2019
%

Discount rate
Inflation (RPI)
Inflation (CPI)
Salary growth
Allowance for commutation of pension for cash at retirement as a
percentage of maximum allowance

2.40
2.75
1.75
2.50

2.50
3.25
2.25
2.90

75.0

75.0

2020
Years

2019
Years

21.5
23.3
22.9
24.5

21.1
22.7
22.5
23.9

KEY ASSUMPTIONS
Mortality assumptions adopted at 31 March 2019 imply the following life
expectancies at age 65:
Male retiring in 2020
Female retiring in 2020
Male retiring in 2040
Female retiring in 2040
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RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS
Under FRS 102 – Section 33, the Group is exempt from the requirement to disclose transactions
between the Group Company and its subsidiaries, and between fellow subsidiaries. This exemption
is subject to The Accounting Direction for registered providers of social housing 2019 (the
‘Direction’), which requires that where a private registered provider of social housing (‘PRP’)
transacts with an associate, subsidiary or other Group member which is not a PRP, or is an
unregistered entity, financial statements shall include intercompany information as set out in the
Direction. The Group has taken advantage of this exemption, subject to the requirements of the
Direction.
The transactions that are required to be disclosed are as follows:
Group Company and Centre for Partnerships LLP (the ‘Partnership’)
Sales of services by the Group Company to the Partnership during the
year
Amount receivable in respect of these sales at the year-end
Sales of services by the Partnership to the Group Company during the
year
Amount payable in respect of these sales at the year-end
Incommunities and BCHT
Purchase of social housing development schemes by Incommunities
from BCHT during the year
Gift Aid received by Incommunities from BCHT during the year
Loan from Incommunities to BCHT at the year-end
Loan interest paid by BCHT to Incommunities during the year
Incommunities and Incommunities Treasury Plc
Loan from Incommunities Treasury Plc to Incommunities at the year-end
(nominal amount)
Discount on loan from Incommunities Treasury Plc to Incommunities at
the year-end
Loan issue costs on loan from Incommunities Treasury Plc to
Incommunities at the year-end
Loan interest payable on loan from Incommunities Treasury Plc to
Incommunities for the year
Management fee payable by Incommunities to Incommunities Treasury
Plc for the year
Sadeh Lok and Incommunities Treasury Plc
Loan from Incommunities Treasury Plc to Sadeh Lok at the year-end
(nominal amount)
Discount on loan from Incommunities Treasury Plc to Sadeh Lok at the
year-end
Loan issue costs on loan from Incommunities Treasury Plc to Sadeh Lok
at the year-end
Loan interest payable on loan from Incommunities Treasury Plc to Sadeh
Lok for the year
Management fee payable by Sadeh Lok to Incommunities Treasury Plc
for the year

2020
£’000

2019
£’000

311
-

95
1

43
-

48
3

7,013
165
8

7,456
100
1,197
16

180,000

180,000

1,598

1,630

1,928

1,993

5,850

160

28

-

20,000

20,000

160

163

214

222

750

18

7

-
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SUBSEQUENT AND ADJUSTING EVENTS
Subsequent Event
Retirement of Group Chief Executive – On 6 July 2020, Geraldine Howley, Group Chief
Executive announced her decision to retire at the end of 2020. Geraldine has been the Group Chief
Executive from the formation of the Group in 2003. The retirement is part of a natural cycle of
change and the Group Board announced that the recruitment process for a new Chief Executive will
start in the next few weeks.
Adjusting Event
Covid-19 Pandemic – The pandemic was declared in March 2020 and has resulted in significant
political, social and economic change, affecting how the Group operates. The Group took preemptive action in mid-March, when it closed The Quays (its head office) and its satellite offices to
the public just prior to the announcement of the lock-down. The pandemic triggered the Group’s
Emergency Response / Business Continuity Plan (generally developed to deal with situations which
would put The Quays out of operational use) and approximately 320 members of staff were
equipped with computer equipment, provided with desk top access and enabled to log-in remotely
and continue to work as before.
Given the significance of the pandemic and the extent of the response required, the Group has
taken the opportunity to provide the following update on the post year-end measures taken:
The Group Chief Executive has represented the Group at the District Gold meeting, which provided
support, partnership opportunities and insight through meetings with Bradford Metropolitan District
Council, the Emergency Services, NHS and other local community groups. Members of the Senior
Leadership Team attended the District Silver (tactical) and Bronze (operational) meetings.
The Board has met with the Group Chief Executive throughout the pandemic on a weekly basis to
review actions taken, which have included:







Restricting repairs and maintenance services to emergency only.
Limiting Estate Services teams activities to block cleansing and hygiene activities.
Restricting the re-letting of properties to provide shelter only to those escaping domestic
violence.
Changing the scheme of delegation to ensure that key business documents could be duly
authorised using electronic signatures.
Sourcing PPE for colleagues.
Reviewing safe working practices across all areas of the business which involved any
engagement with customers or third parties.

In addition to the above, a weekly performance report has been instigated, and a revised budget
and business plan for 2020/21 has been prepared which takes account of the effects of the Covid19 pandemic and the resulting operational changes. The revised budget and business plan were
approved by the Board in May 2020. The revised business plan will form the basis of the Financial
Forecast Return (FFR), which will be submitted to the Regulator of Social Housing in September
2020.
The head office has been delineated to provide workstations for around one third of the total office
based teams, and consideration is being made as to when and who should return to work.
Throughout the lock-down, essential activities have continued in the office, including the sending
and receipt of hard copy mail, the maintenance of the ICT servers and network, and the security
and maintenance of the office itself. The maintenance depots have also continued to operate
ensuring materials have been made available for repairs.
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SUBSEQUENT AND ADJUSTING EVENTS (Continued)
The Group has continued to provide an emergency repairs service throughout the pandemic.
Although routine and void repairs were initially curtailed, these are now being carried out, and all
Estate Services have re-commenced. Work on constructions sites has also re-commenced, though
still observing the social distancing rules.
Whilst the experience has been unprecedented, the restrictions on numbers working at The Quays
have had no adverse impact on service performance. The enforced, rapid progress of digitalisation
has resulted in management re-thinking how operational and support resources are delivered, and
most services have started to review their structures – with a likelihood there will be efficiencies
generated over the coming months and years.
These events are noted in the Directors’ Report and elsewhere in the financial statements.
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